

Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961

Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963

Reprint 6: The regulations as at 15 March 2007

Guide for using this reprint

What the reprint includes



Endnotes, Compilation table, and Table of provisions that have not come into operation

- 1. Details about the original regulations and legislation that has amended its text are shown in the Compilation table in endnote 1, at the back of the reprint. The table also shows any previous reprint.
- 2. Transitional, savings, or other provisions identified in the Compilation table may be important. The table may refer to another endnote setting out the text of these provisions in full.
- 3. A table of provisions that have not come into operation, to be found in endnote 1a if it is needed, lists any provisions of the regulations being reprinted that have not come into operation and any amendments that have not come into operation. The full text is set out in another endnote that is referred to in the table.

Notes amongst text (italicised and within square brackets)

If the reprint includes a regulation that was inserted, or has been amended, since the regulations being reprinted were made, editorial notes at the foot of the regulation give some history of how the regulation came to be as it is. If the regulation replaced an earlier regulation, no history of the earlier regulation is given (the full history of the regulations is in the Compilation table).

Notes of this kind may also be at the foot of Schedules or headings.

- 2. The other kind of editorial note shows something has been
 - removed (because it was repealed or deleted from the law); or
 - omitted under the *Reprints Act 1984* s. 7(4) (because, although still technically part of the text, it no longer has any effect).

The text of anything removed or omitted can be found in an earlier reprint (if there is one) or one of the written laws identified in the Compilation table.

Reprint numbering and date

- The reprint number (in the footer of each page of the document) shows how many times the regulations have been reprinted. For example, numbering a reprint as "Reprint 3" would mean that the reprint was the 3rd reprint since the regulations were published. Reprint numbering was implemented as from 1 January 2003.
- The information in the reprint is current on the date shown as the date as at which the regulations are reprinted. That date is not the date when the reprint was published by the State Law Publisher and it is probably not the date when the most recent amendment had effect.

Western Australia

Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963

	CONTENTS	
1. 2. 2A. 2B.	Part I — Preliminary Citation Terms used in these regulations Saving Scope of these regulations	1 1 4 4
-2.		log i vog
3. 4. 5.	Part II — Authorisation of expl Application for declaration of explosive Testing of explosive Definition and name of authorised explosi	5 5
	Part III — Importation of explo	osives
6. 7. 8.	Application for Licence to Import Explosion Application for Entry Permit Dealing with imported explosives	
	Part IV — Handling and inspec	ction
	of explosives	
9. 10. 11.	Person to show licence or permit Inspector to have access to imported explo Chief Inspector to be satisfied with equipm	
12.	safety Damaged explosives to be inspected	11

Co	nta	nto
\sim 0	пe	บเร

13.	Importer to provide access, samples, etc.	11
14.	Testing of nitro-compounds	12
15.	Inspector to be satisfied with handling and storage	12
16.	Chief Inspector may impose safety conditions, etc.	13
16A.	Inspection of deteriorating equipment	13
	Part V — Manufacture of explosives	
17.	Explosives manufacturing only in licensed factory	14
18.	Application for Licence to Manufacture Explosives	14
19.	Procedure for grant or refusal of licence	14
20.	Licence conditions and limitations	14
21.	Factory conduct rules to be approved by Chief	
	Inspector	15
22.	Right of entry to factory	15
23.	Licence holder to make handling rules for	
	employees	15
24.	Explosion, etc., to be reported immediately	15
25.	Chief Inspector to approve factory alterations	16
26.	Filling of safety cartridges	16
27.	Filling of cartridges intended for sale	16
28.	Blasting agents	17
29.	Mixing and handling conditions for blasting agents	17
30.	Licence to Manufacture a Blasting Agent	18
31.	Mixing unclassified blasting agent	18
32.	Blasting agent mixing, etc., subject to approval of	
	inspector	18
33.	Application of licence	18
34.	Approval required for experimentation	18
	Part VI — Storage and keeping of	
	explosives	
34A.	Storage of fireworks	19
35.	Conditions for storing authorised explosive —	
	private	19
36.	Quantity allowed under a Licence to Store	20
37.	Requirements for a Licence to Store	21
38.	Issuing a Licence to Store	21
39.	Quantity limits for Licence to Store	21
40.	Mode A and Mode B quantities	21
41.	Licence to Store conditions — Mode A	22

page ii Reprint 6

		Contents
42.	Premises — Mode A	23
43.	Licence to Store conditions — Mode B	23
44.	Explosive store — Mode B	25
45.	Store to be clean and maintained	25
46.	Licensed magazines	25
47.	Application for a Magazine Licence	25
48.	Granting or refusing a Magazine Licence	26
49.	No change to magazine once licence approved	26
50.	Magazine storage of detonators and explosives	27
51.	Magazines — construction and fittings	27
52.	Magazine rules	31
53.	Application to license a portable magazine	32
54.	Conditions relating to a portable magazine	33
55.	Storage in Public Magazines	34
56.	Rules relating to Public Magazines	34
57.	Duties of O.I.C. of a Public Magazine	35
58.	No entry to area near Public Magazine	36
59.	Rules relating to explosives reserves	36
60.	Storage of explosives — under 3 months	38
61.	Storage of explosives — more than 6 months	38
	Part VII — Sale of explosives	
62.	Only licence holder may sell explosives	40
63.	Application for Licence to Sell Explosives	40
64.	Storage of explosives for sale — quantities and	
	premises	40
65.	Granting of a Licence to Sell Explosives	41
66.	Storage of explosives for sale — separate buildings	41
67.	Emergency requirements for premises specified in	
	licence	41
68.	Licence holder to notify fire authority	42
69.	Precautions to avoid fire or explosion	42
70.	Requirements for premises used by licence holder	42
71.	Records to be kept	43
72.	No sale of explosives to persons under 18 years	43
73.	No window displays	43
74.	Direct sale of explosives — quantity	44
75.	Explosives only to be sold to authorised persons	44
76.	Authorised persons	44
77.	Safety Fuse	46
78.	Police powers	46

Reprint 6 page iii

Contents

	Part IX — Packing and marking of explosives	
107.	Application of this Part	48
108.	Packing, labelling etc. explosives generally	48
	Part X — Use of explosives	
113.	Use of explosives at mines	49
114.	Application where workplace under	
	Commonwealth supervision	49
115.	Condition where explosives are used	49
116. 116A.	Permit to Purchase Explosives Shotfirer's Permit	52 53
110A.		33
	Part XI — Special provisions	
	for fireworks	
117.	Composition of firework treated as explosive	
	composition	56
122.	Manufactured fireworks treated as explosives	56
124.	Entry Permit for imported fireworks	56
125.	Inspection fee	56
126.	Chief Inspector may exempt certain fireworks	57 57
129. 130.	Manufacturing fireworks Public safety	57 57
130. 131.	Sale and use of fireworks by persons without	37
131.	permits	57
132.	Labelling of larger fireworks	59
135.	Storage of firework composition	59
136.	Storage of fireworks other than shopgoods class	59
137.	Storage of shopgoods class fireworks	60
138.	Shopgoods class fireworks exceeding 180 kg	60
139.	Shopgoods class fireworks exceeding 900 kg	60
140.	Storage directions by inspector or Fire Brigade	
	officer	61
142.	Public fireworks display requires permit	61
143.	Application for Permit to Display Fireworks	61
144.	Conditions relating to public fireworks display	62
	Part XII — Miscellaneous	
146.	Inspector may examine or test explosives	64
147.	Fee for Abel Heat Test	64

page iv Reprint 6

Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963

		Contents
148.	Imported explosive with damaged packaging	64
149.	Accidental fire or explosion	64
150.	Safety precautions for magazines and licensed	
	premises	65
151.	Unauthorised entry	65
152.	Unlawful possession of explosives	65
153.	Trespass on premises	66
154.	Duration, transfer and variation of licences	66
155.	Cancellation or revocation of licence	67
156.	Permits	68
157.	Fees	68
158.	General offence	68
159.	Falsifying application particulars	69
160.	False statements	69
161.	Penalty	69
	First Schedule — Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1	
	Second Schedule — Fees	
	Notes	
	Compilation table	82
	Provisions that have not come into operation	85
	Defined Terms	



Reprinted under the Reprints Act 1984 as at 15 March 2007

Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961

Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963

Part I — Preliminary

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2479.]

1. Citation

These regulations may be cited as the *Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963* ¹.

[Regulation 1 inserted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2479.]

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2479.]

2. Terms used in these regulations

(1) In these regulations unless the context requires otherwise —

"approved" means approved by the Chief Inspector;

"Australian Explosives Code" means the Australian Code for the Transport of Explosives by Road and Rail, Second Edition, March 2000, published by the Commonwealth of Australia;

- "Division", in relation to explosives, means
 - (a) the Division number to which the explosives are assigned by an entry in column 4 in Appendix 2 of the Australian Explosives Code; or
 - (b) the Division number that is assigned to the explosives under Addendum I to Appendix 2 of the Australian Explosives Code;
- "explosives" means articles or substances that are explosives by virtue of subregulation (4);
- "nitro-compound" means any chemical compound possessed of explosive properties which is produced by the chemical action upon any carbonaceous substance of nitric acid or sulphuric acid mixed with a nitrate or nitric acid, whether the compound is mechanically mixed with other substances or not;
- "outer package" means a box or case made of wood, metal or other approved material of such strength, construction and character that it will not be broken or accidentally opened or become defective or insecure while being conveyed, and will not allow any explosive to escape;
- "pyrotechnic device" means an article containing a pyrotechnic substance, or an article containing both an explosive and an illuminating, incendiary, lachrymatory or smoke producing substance;
- "the Act" means the Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961;
- "tonne" means a net weight of 1 000 kilograms of actual explosive;
- "UN tests" means the tests and criteria specified in
 - (a) the eleventh revised edition of the *Recommendations* on the *Transport of Dangerous Goods* published by the United Nations; or
 - (b) the third revised edition of the *Recommendations on* the *Transport of Dangerous Goods*, Manual of Tests and Criteria published by the United Nations.

page 2 Reprint 6

- (1a) In these regulations, unless the contrary intention appears, words and expressions have the same meanings as in section 1.2 of the Australian Explosives Code.
 - (2) For the purposes of these regulations, a reference in the Australian Explosives Code to
 - (a) "Competent Authority" shall be taken to be a reference to the Chief Inspector;
 - (b) "should" shall be taken to be a reference to "shall".
 - (3) Where a provision of these regulations requires
 - (a) any act or thing to be done in a manner specified in, or in accordance with, the Australian Explosives Code; or
 - (b) any thing to be in accordance with the Australian Explosives Code,

the requirement only applies to the extent that it is not inconsistent with any other provision of these regulations.

- (4) An article or substance is an explosive for the purposes of these regulations if it
 - (a) is named in a specific entry in column 2 in Appendix 2 of the Australian Explosives Code;
 - (b) satisfies the criteria in a Special Provision of that Code that is applied by column 7 of that Appendix;
 - (c) is named in the First Schedule;
 - (d) satisfies the UN tests for determining whether goods are dangerous goods of Class 1; or
 - (e) has explosive properties (as determined by Test Series 1 and 2 described in the UN tests) and is too dangerous to transport (as determined by Test Series 3 and 4 described in the UN tests).

[Regulation 2 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2682; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2521; 11 Aug 1978 p. 2936; 11 Jan 1994 p. 52; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2479-80; 18 Aug 2000 p. 4780.]

r. 2A

2A. Saving

Where a boundary, building or other thing conformed to the measurements prescribed by these regulations as in force immediately before the coming into operation of the *Explosives* (*Metric Conversion Amendments*) Regulations 1974¹, it shall not be regarded as failing to conform to the requirements as to measurement by reason only of the amendments to these regulations effected by the *Explosives* (*Metric Conversion Amendments*) Regulations 1974.

[Regulation 2A inserted in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2682.]

2B. Scope of these regulations

- (1) Part VI and regulations 135-140 do not apply to the handling of explosives in a port.
- (2) In subregulation (1)
 - "handling" has the same meaning as it has in section 1.3.32 of Australian Standard AS 3846 1998 *The handling and transport of dangerous cargoes in port areas*, published by Standards Australia as amended from time to time;
 - "port" has the same meaning as it has in regulation 3(1) of the Dangerous Goods (Transport) (Dangerous Goods in Ports) Regulations 2001.

[Regulation 2B inserted in Gazette 22 Jan 2002 p. 355.]

page 4 Reprint 6

Part II — Authorisation of explosives

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

3. Application for declaration of explosive

- (1) Every application for an explosive to be declared an authorised explosive under the Act shall be made to the Chief Inspector.
- (2) Each application shall be accompanied by the examination fee prescribed in the Second Schedule, and shall contain particulars of —
 - (a) the nature and composition of the explosive;
 - (b) any substitute or substitutes which it is desired to have approved for any specified ingredient; and
 - such other information as the Chief Inspector may (c) require.
- The applicant shall provide without charge such samples of the (3) explosive as the Chief Inspector may require for the purposes of analysis and testing.

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

4. **Testing of explosive**

An explosive submitted for authorisation pursuant to regulation 3 may be tested by the Chief Inspector in any way he considers necessary, and such tests may include —

- chemical composition;
- physical properties; (b)
- (c) stability by the Abel Heat Test;
- (d) sensitivity to impact;
- detonation by influence; (e)
- (f) velocity of detonation;
- composition of gases evolved on explosion; (g)

Authorisation of explosives

- (h) stability during storage;
- (i) such other tests for behaviour, stability or practical effect as the Chief Inspector may specify.

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

5. Definition and name of authorised explosive

- (1) Upon his being satisfied that an explosive is suitable for authorisation the Chief Inspector shall approve the definition to which the explosive must conform and a name by which the explosive may be recommended to the Minister for declaration as an authorised explosive.
- (2) After being so declared the authorised explosive may be imported into, or manufactured, stored, conveyed and used in Western Australia so long as it continues to conform to the definition defined by the Chief Inspector for that explosive, and a person shall not import or manufacture any explosive under an approved name unless it conforms with the definition defined by the Chief Inspector for that explosive.
- (3) The definition of every authorised explosive shall be recorded and kept in the office of the Chief Inspector and shall be the definition used for the purpose of any proceedings under the Act or these regulations.

[Regulation 5 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

page 6 Reprint 6

Part III — Importation of explosives

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

6. Application for Licence to Import Explosives

- (1) Every application for a Licence to Import Explosives shall be made to the Chief Inspector, shall be accompanied by the fee prescribed in the Second Schedule, and shall contain particulars of the full name and address of the applicant, the ports or places of entry at which the explosives will be imported, the mode of transport and the place or places of origin.
- (2) On approval of the application and payment of the prescribed fee the Chief Inspector on behalf of the Minister shall issue a Licence to Import Explosives and such Licence shall be current for one year from the date of issue and be valid only in respect of the ports or places of entry shown thereon and for those explosives that are authorised explosives.
- (3) A Licence to Import Explosives shall be granted subject, to such prohibitions, restrictions or conditions relating to packaging, loading, unloading, delivery or conveyance as are prescribed by these regulations and to any additional conditions that the Chief Inspector considers necessary to protect the public from danger and specifies in writing in the licence.

[Regulation 6 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

7. Application for Entry Permit

- (1) A person, not being the holder of a Licence to Import Explosives, may apply for an Entry Permit in respect of each consignment of every explosive imported by him.
- (2) An Entry Permit shall also be required for any importation by a licensed importer of an unauthorised explosive.

- (3) Application for an Entry Permit shall be made to the Chief Inspector not less than 14 days before the expected arrival of the explosive and shall state the port or place of entry, the name, type and quantity of explosive, the expected date of arrival, and such further details of its packing, adaptation and manner of use or application as the Chief Inspector may require, the Chief Inspector may then issue the Entry Permit subject to any conditions that he considers necessary to protect the public from danger and specifies in writing in such Entry Permit.
- (4) An Entry Permit shall not apply to any consignment other than that for which it is issued, and the Chief Inspector may refuse to issue an Entry Permit for any unauthorised explosive that in his opinion is unsafe for storage, transport or use.
- (5) The applicant for an Entry Permit shall pay the fee specified in the Second Schedule.

[Regulation 7 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 12 Mar 1982 p. 848.]

8. Dealing with imported explosives

- (1) Any explosive imported into Western Australia and intended for subsequent export from Western Australia, while still being contained in the same packages, may be stored in the Government Magazine or in a magazine on a Government Reserve until ready for export, and while so stored such explosive shall be deemed not to be imported and shall not be subject to the provisions of these regulations so far as they relate to the importation of explosives.
- (2) An imported explosive shall not be sold, delivered or used until the importer has obtained from an inspector a certificate signed by him stating that the explosive is approved for release, and such certificate must be produced before any imported explosive is cleared from a Customs House.

page 8 Reprint 6

- (3) The owner of any imported explosive, or his agent, shall give to the Chief Inspector not less than 3 days' prior notice of the movement of such explosive either into or out of Western Australia, and shall specify in such notice the quantity and name of the explosive and the place where such movement is intended to take place.
- (4) The fee to be paid for an inspection of explosives before a certificate of release is issued is specified in the Second Schedule.

[Regulation 8 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 12 Mar 1982 p. 848.]

Part IV — Handling and inspection of explosives

9. Person to show licence or permit

- (1) A person who imports any explosives shall satisfy
 - (a) an inspector or other officer of Customs;
 - (b) the pilot, master, owner, or agent of the vessel carrying the explosives; and
 - (c) a responsible officer of the Harbour or Railway authority,

that he is the holder of a Licence to Import Explosives or an Entry Permit granted and issued under the Act and these regulations permitting importation of the explosive, and if required shall produce that licence or permit.

(2) The officer responsible for the vessel, harbour or railway shall not allow the explosive to be unloaded unless he is satisfied that it is imported under the authority of a Licence or Entry Permit granted and issued pursuant to the Act, and these regulations.

10. Inspector to have access to imported explosives

- (1) Any imported explosive that arrives in Western Australia either at a port or by way of rail transport is subject to and shall be dealt with according to the regulations of the harbour authority or the railway authority, as the case may be, until such time as the explosive is removed from property controlled by the harbour or railway authority; but any Inspector shall have necessary access to the explosive for the purpose of inspection or sampling, and such inspector shall require to be satisfied that no danger exists to the public or to any property from the explosive.
- [(2) repealed]

[Regulation 10 amended in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

page 10 Reprint 6

11. Chief Inspector to be satisfied with equipment safety

Any vessel, lighter, vehicle, machine or equipment used for moving explosives at the place of entry into Western Australia shall be approved for the purpose by the Chief Inspector, and if the Chief Inspector so requires shall be altered, improved or refitted in any respect that he considers necessary in the interest of safety.

12. Damaged explosives to be inspected

- (1) When any explosive or the outer case or package thereof is found to be damaged in any way, the damage shall be reported to an inspector and the damaged explosive, outer case or package shall be set aside for inspection.
- (2) Any damaged outer case or package shall be opened in the presence of an inspector who shall then direct that the explosive, outer case or package be repacked, disposed of, destroyed, or returned to the manufacturer as the inspector thinks fit and for any such inspection that occupies an inspector's time for one half day or for a longer period, the importer or his agent shall be charged and shall pay an inspection fee at the rate prescribed in the Second Schedule.
- (3) The Chief Inspector shall at all times have the right to reject as unfit for distribution and use any imported explosive that in his opinion has arrived in an unsatisfactory condition whether by reason of deterioration, damage or otherwise.

13. Importer to provide access, samples, etc.

The importer of any explosive, or his agent, shall at any time when requested by an inspector to do so open, or cause to be opened, for inspection any package containing any explosive, and shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the inspector without payment such samples as the inspector may require for the purpose of further examination or testing, and after such inspection and delivery the importer or his agent shall then forthwith close and fasten the package securely and safely.

14. Testing of nitro-compounds

- (1) All imported explosives of Division 1.1 containing any chemical compound or mechanically mixed preparation which consists either wholly or partly of nitroglycerine or of some other liquid nitro-compound shall pass the test known as the Abel Heat Test before being approved for release by an inspector, and for the purpose of such test there may be taken one sample from every 50 packages or part thereof.
- (2) The test shall be at a temperature of 71° Celsius and for a gelatinous explosive to pass such test, the reaction time shall be not less than 10 minutes, and in the case of powdered explosives the reaction time shall be not less than 7 minutes, and the test shall thereafter be continued for a total period of 30 minutes and the time of reaction shall be observed; but if no reaction has occurred at the end of a period of 30 minutes, the test shall be discontinued and the result reported as "N30".
- (3) In the event of any sample failing to pass the test prescribed in this regulation, no explosive of the same name, date and package marks shall be released, distributed or sold, but shall be further tested or dealt with as the Chief Inspector thinks fit.
- (4) The importer shall pay in respect of each heat test the fee prescribed in the Second Schedule and shall receive from the Chief Inspector a report of the test results.

[Regulation 14 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2682; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2521; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

15. Inspector to be satisfied with handling and storage

A person who imports any explosive under the authority of a Licence to Import Explosives or an Entry Permit shall handle or store the explosive to the satisfaction of an inspector and in accordance with the requirements of these regulations.

[Regulation 15 amended in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

page 12 Reprint 6

16. Chief Inspector may impose safety conditions, etc.

In all matters relating to handling, loading or unloading of explosives to or from any magazine, wharf, vehicle or vessel at a place of importation, the Chief Inspector may impose such conditions or issue such instructions as he considers necessary for safety, and all such conditions or instructions shall, where necessary, be issued in writing and be duly observed and complied with by all persons concerned.

16A. Inspection of deteriorating equipment

- (1) A person shall not use equipment for or in connection with the detonation of explosives, which equipment was manufactured after 1 March 1982 unless a production model of that equipment has been inspected and approved by the Chief Inspector.
- (2) The fee for the inspection of a production model of equipment used for or in connection with the detonation of explosives is specified in the Second Schedule.
- (3) Equipment for or in connection with the detonation of explosives, required by this regulation to be inspected before use, does not include insulated electrical conductors, clips and bindings.
- (4) Equipment used for or in connection with the detonation of explosives may be tested by an inspector from time to time on payment of the fee specified in the Second Schedule.

[Regulation 16A inserted in Gazette 12 Mar 1982 p. 848.]

Part V — Manufacture of explosives

17. Explosives manufacturing only in licensed factory

Except for the special exemptions referred to in section 19(3) of the Act, the manufacture of any explosive that is defined, and including fireworks and pyrotechnic devices, shall be carried out only in a place licensed under the Act as a factory.

18. Application for Licence to Manufacture Explosives

- (1) Every application for a Licence to Manufacture Explosives shall be made to the Chief Inspector and the applicant shall supply all information that the Minister or the Chief Inspector may require in respect to the location of the proposed factory, its buildings and magazines, and the processes or operations proposed to be used and employed.
- (2) Every such application shall be accompanied by the prescribed fee for the licence and by such plans drawn to scale as the Chief Inspector may require.

19. Procedure for grant or refusal of licence

- (1) The Chief Inspector shall recommend to the Minister that the licence be granted or refused in accordance with section 20(2) of the Act, and the Minister shall thereupon exercise the powers conferred on him by that subsection, as he thinks fit, but shall not grant the licence unless it is approved by the local authority of the municipal district in which the proposed factory will be located.
- [(2) repealed]

[Regulation 19 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312.]

20. Licence conditions and limitations

In granting a Licence to Manufacture Explosives in respect of a factory the Minister shall specify the maximum quantities of explosive ingredients or finished explosives that may be kept in

page 14 Reprint 6

any building within the factory and the distances that such buildings are to be from each other and from other buildings or works, and such quantities shall not then be exceeded at any time without approval given in writing by the Minister.

21. Factory conduct rules to be approved by Chief Inspector

The Chief Inspector shall approve the rules and procedure for handling explosive materials and products in a factory made and instituted for the management and conduct of the factory and of the persons employed in or about the same, and shall be satisfied that such rules and procedure are observed and obeyed by all persons employed in or entering the factory.

22. Right of entry to factory

Every inspector has the right of entry to a factory at all times, and may inspect any process, operation or store and take any samples of ingredients, components or products that he requires for testing purposes.

23. Licence holder to make handling rules for employees

The holder of a Licence to Manufacture Explosives shall make special rules for regulating the conduct and work of persons employed by him in the manufacture of explosives so that proper discipline and safety of those persons is ensured, and, if required by the Chief Inspector, shall make new rules or alter or repeal any rules for regulating processes or persons employed in the factory.

24. Explosion, etc., to be reported immediately

- (1) Any accident by fire or explosion in a factory shall be immediately reported to the Chief Inspector who shall thereupon make such inquiry and investigation as he considers necessary.
- (2) When an accident by fire or explosion has occurred in a factory, no reconstruction of the premises shall be carried out without the permission of the Chief Inspector and subject to such alteration as he may require.

25. Chief Inspector to approve factory alterations

No building shall be added to a factory and no building shall be reconstructed or altered unless properly prepared plans relating to such reconstruction or alteration are first submitted to the Chief Inspector for approval and for amendment of the licence.

26. Filling of safety cartridges

The filling of safety cartridges for small arms when intended solely for private use and not for sale is exempt from the provisions of the Act and these regulations; but when such cartridges are intended for sale, the filling thereof shall be deemed to be manufacture of an explosive.

[Regulation 26 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2521.]

27. Filling of cartridges intended for sale

A person shall not fill any explosive into small arms cartridges intended for sale except under the following conditions:

- (a) The premises are licensed for the storage and keeping of explosives.
- (b) There shall not be in the room in which such filling is carried on, more than 2.5 kilograms of explosive in addition to such explosive as is made up into cartridges.
- (c) No other work or activity shall be carried out in the same room while cartridges are being filled and no unauthorised person shall have access to the room.
- (d) There shall not be in the room while cartridges are being filled any fire or any type of artificial light that is liable to cause fire or explosion.
- (e) The room in which filling is carried out shall be detached from any store or receptacle where explosives are kept and at such distance as may be approved by an inspector.
- (f) Any person intending to fill or cause to be filled any explosive into small arms cartridges for sale shall give

page 16 Reprint 6

- notice to the Chief Inspector of his intention to do so whether the premises in which such filling is to be carried out are or are not already licensed.
- (g) No premises shall be used for the filling of explosives into small arms cartridges intended for sale unless approved by the Chief Inspector for that purpose, and the occupier of the premises shall duly comply with any conditions imposed or directions given by the Chief Inspector in respect of those premises.

[Regulation 27 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2682.]

28. Blasting agents

- (1) The term "blasting agent" means any material or mixture intended for blasting, not otherwise an authorised explosive and none of the ingredients of which is an authorised explosive; provided that the finished product cannot be detonated when tested in a manner laid down by the Chief Inspector.
- (2) The Chief Inspector may approve that a mixture used for blasting purposes shall be classified as a blasting agent when, in his opinion, it conforms to the definition.
- (3) A blasting agent, when so classified, is exempt from the provisions of regulations 17 to 25 (both inclusive) as they apply to manufacture.

[Regulation 28 amended in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481.]

29. Mixing and handling conditions for blasting agents

- (1) The Chief Inspector shall specify conditions to which the mixing and handling of a blasting agent as well as the storage and handling of any of the ingredients thereof shall be subject, and shall cause a printed copy of those conditions to be given to any person who mixes and uses the blasting agent.
- (2) A person who by act or omission contravenes any condition specified by the Chief Inspector pursuant to this regulation commits an offence against these regulations.

30. Licence to Manufacture a Blasting Agent

(1) Any person intending to mix and use a blasting agent shall first apply to the Chief Inspector for a Licence to Manufacture a Blasting Agent and shall pay the prescribed fee specified in the Second Schedule.

[(2) repealed]

[Regulation 30 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312.]

31. Mixing unclassified blasting agent

Any person who mixes a blasting agent without first having obtained a licence to manufacture the same, or mixes any ingredients for blasting when the mixture has not been classified as a blasting agent, shall be deemed to be manufacturing an explosive.

32. Blasting agent mixing, etc., subject to approval of inspector

The manner of mixing, keeping and carrying any blasting agent under the authority of a licence to manufacture the same shall be subject to approval of an inspector at all times.

33. Application of licence

A Licence to Manufacture a Blasting Agent shall be granted for one year only but may be renewed at the discretion of the Chief Inspector, and such licence shall apply only to the type of blasting agent named therein, and to the place or places specified for mixing and use of the blasting agent.

34. Approval required for experimentation

Any person intending to make practical experiments with any mixture for blasting other than a classified blasting agent shall first obtain approval in writing from the Chief Inspector who may arrange such inspection or supervision of the experiments as he deems necessary.

[Regulation 34 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312.]

page 18 Reprint 6

Part VI — Storage and keeping of explosives

(A) For private use and not for sale

34A. Storage of fireworks

In relation to the storage of manufactured fireworks, this Part is subject to Part XI.

[Regulation 34A inserted in Gazette 1 Nov 2002 p. 5371.]

35. Conditions for storing authorised explosive — private

A quantity of authorised explosive may be stored or kept by any person for private use and not for sale subject to compliance with the following conditions:

- (1) The quantity so stored or kept does not exceed 25 kilograms weight of explosive and 100 detonators.
- (2) The explosive with its original package is wholly contained in a wooden receptacle fitted with a hinged lid and a strong lock, such receptacle to be well constructed of close fitting boards not less than 20 millimetres in thickness and fitted with handles for carrying, to bear the word "EXPLOSIVES" clearly shown in letters not less than 75 millimetres high, and to be kept securely locked.
- (3) The receptacle containing the explosive is located within a lock-up building or shed, other than a dwelling, and at a distance of not less than 8 metres from any source of fire or from flammable liquid of any quantity or class.
- (4) The explosive is not stored or kept within the boundaries of any city, suburban or townsite area unless the storage is approved by the local authority for that area and by the Chief Fire Officer for the area.
- (5) The owner of the explosive takes every precaution against theft of, or interference with, the explosive by any person and reports any such theft or interference to a Police Officer.

- (6) Every reasonable precaution is taken by the owner of the explosive against accident by fire or explosion due to irresponsible action by any person in or about the premises in which it is stored or kept.
- (7) The owner of the explosives is a person authorised under the Act or these regulations to be in possession of explosives and the authority is produced on demand to any Police Officer or to an inspector.
- (8) The explosive so stored or kept may at any time be examined by an inspector and any direction of the inspector is duly carried out.
- (9) If the explosive appears to have deteriorated or is suspected of having deteriorated to such extent as to be unfit for use, or if the explosive is no longer required for his private use, the owner reports that fact to an inspector or to a Police Officer.
- (10) Detonators when kept for private use and not for sale are kept in a safe and secure manner in accordance with these regulations.

[Regulation 35 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2682; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

(B) In premises under a Licence to Store

36. Quantity allowed under a Licence to Store

- (1) The quantity of explosives that may be stored or kept in premises pursuant to the authority of a Licence to Store Explosives granted under these regulations shall be regulated by the situation and construction of the premises and the nature of the explosives kept.
- (2) Every application for a Licence to Store Explosives shall be made to the Chief Inspector in writing and be accompanied by the prescribed fee.

page 20 Reprint 6

37. Requirements for a Licence to Store

A Licence to Store Explosives shall not be granted until the premises in which the explosives are to be stored or kept have been approved by an inspector who shall determine the manner of storage, the quantity of explosives to be stored, the location of storage within the premises, the appliances to be kept for fire-fighting, or such other precautions to be taken that he considers necessary for prevention of fire or explosion or for general safety.

38. Issuing a Licence to Store

A Licence to Store Explosives shall be issued by the Chief Inspector for such quantity of explosives and subject to such conditions and manner of storage as are recommended by an inspector, but the licence may be refused where the premises are within a city or townsite if the Chief Inspector considers that the storing or keeping of explosives at that place is or is likely to be a danger to public safety.

39. Quantity limits for Licence to Store

No premises shall be licensed for the storing or keeping of a quantity of explosives exceeding 150 kilograms, but there may also be stored on the premises so licensed a quantity of detonators not exceeding 1 000 in number.

[Regulation 39 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2521; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

40. Mode A and Mode B quantities

A Licence to Store Explosives shall be granted in Mode A or Mode B, as specified in this Part, according to the quantity of explosives stored or kept in the premises and the manner of such storage.

r. 41

Licensed premises Mode A — Maximum 50 kilograms

41. Licence to Store conditions — Mode A

- (1) A Licence to Store Explosives in Mode A shall be granted when the premises in which explosives are to be stored or kept comprise a securely constructed lock-up building, not being a dwelling house, in which is placed a substantial receptacle exclusively appropriated for keeping explosives, and shall authorise the storage or keeping of a quantity of explosive not exceeding 50 kilograms.
- (2) The licence referred to in subregulation (1) shall be subject to the following conditions:
 - (1) The receptacle for keeping explosives may be made of wood or iron but if made of wood shall be covered on the outside with light-gauge metal sheeting, and if made of iron shall be lined inside with either wood or similar approved non-metallic material.
 - (2) The receptacle shall be of sufficient size to contain 50 kilograms of explosives together with the inner and outer packing thereof, shall be provided with a closely fitting lid or door, and be so secured by a substantial lock as to prevent unauthorised persons having access thereto.
 - (3) The receptacle shall be kept painted on the outside in white or red colour and shall have the word "EXPLOSIVES" painted thereon in a conspicuous manner.
 - (4) The receptacle shall be fitted with 2 carrying handles, one at each end, so as to provide easy means of removal in case of fire or other emergency, or alternatively the receptacle may be fitted with 2 wheels and shaft handles for the same purpose.

page 22 Reprint 6

(5) There shall always be free access to the receptacle and no other packages or goods shall be kept either on top of the receptacle or within 600 millimetres of the receptacle.

[Regulation 41 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683.]

42. Premises — Mode A

- (1) In premises the subject of a Licence to Store Explosives in Mode A the receptacle shall be placed on a ground floor and close to an exterior door and be at least 8 metres from any goods of a flammable nature, but in other respects the receptacle shall be so placed in the premises as directed and approved by an inspector.
- (2) Detonators shall not be kept in the receptacle with other explosives but shall be kept in a securely locked receptacle or place approved by an inspector and separated by a minimum distance of 3 metres from other explosives.
- (3) Any inspector may require that there be kept in the premises and maintained in proper working order a portable hand fire extinguisher which shall be easily accessible when required to be used.

[Regulation 42 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

Licence in Mode B — Maximum 150 kilograms

43. Licence to Store conditions — Mode B

(1) A Licence to Store Explosives in Mode B shall be granted when the premises in which explosives are to be stored or kept consist of a detached building or other structure used exclusively for storing or keeping explosives, which building or structure is referred to in these regulations as a "store".

- (1a) If premises described in subregulation (1) are to be used to store or keep manufactured fireworks and no other explosives, a Licence to Store Explosives in Mode B may be granted in respect of the premises if they are at a place, and are constructed in a manner, approved by the Chief Inspector.
- (2) The licence referred to in subregulation (1) or (1a) shall be subject to the following conditions:
 - (1) The store shall be separated from dwellings, offices or working places by an approved distance, having regard to the quantity of explosives stored or kept.
 - (2) The store shall be separated from any place for the storage of flammable liquids or dangerous goods by an approved distance, having regard to the quantities of such goods and the type of premises.
 - (3) The store shall be either on the surface of the ground or excavated in solid rock and shall be constructed and fitted in accordance with these regulations.
 - (4) The store may be constructed and fitted as provided in these regulations for magazines and shall be of dimensions appropriate for the quantity of explosives to be stored or kept therein.
 - (5) A receptacle of iron may be approved as a store if it is lined with wood or other approved material, is sheltered by a roof from the weather.
 - (6) Every store shall meet the requirements of the Chief Inspector in respect of construction and security, and shall be so constructed that the interior remains cool and dry at all times, the internal capacity is not less than double that of the explosives and their packages, and there is provided in the bottom and the top a means of ventilation.
 - (7) No detonators shall be kept within 3 metres of other explosives and all detonators shall be contained in a receptacle or place kept securely locked.

page 24 Reprint 6

(3) A Licence to Store Explosives in Mode B may be granted for premises on which there are 2 storage receptacles each of which satisfies the requirements of regulation 41 for a storage in Mode A and which are located in different parts of the premises.

[Regulation 43 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3312-3; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483; 1 Nov 2002 p. 5371.]

44. Explosive store — Mode B

Before granting a Licence to Store Explosives in Mode B the Chief Inspector shall approve the type of store proposed by the applicant and its location on the premises, and when the store is erected in accordance with the requirements of the Chief Inspector, no change by reason of addition or alteration to other buildings or works shall be made on the premises specified in the licence unless the Chief Inspector is first notified of the change and gives his approval thereto in writing.

45. Store to be clean and maintained

Every store for explosives shall be kept and maintained in good repair and in a clean and orderly manner and to the approval of an inspector.

Licensed magazines

46. Licensed magazines

Except as otherwise provided by section 22 of the Act, any storage or keeping of explosives in a quantity greater than 150 kilograms shall be in a licensed magazine which shall be constructed and placed in accordance with the requirements contained in these regulations.

[Regulation 46 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683.]

47. Application for a Magazine Licence

(1) Every application for a Magazine Licence shall be made in writing to the Chief Inspector and be accompanied by the prescribed fee specified in the Second Schedule.

(2) The application shall include all information required by the Chief Inspector and be accompanied by a scale drawing of the magazine building and a plan showing its location with respect to any roads, buildings or working places.

[Regulation 47 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3313.]

48. Granting or refusing a Magazine Licence

- (1) The Chief Inspector after examining the application may grant a Magazine Licence in respect of the magazine specified therein with or without modification or additions and subject to such conditions, restrictions or prohibitions as he may deem necessary in the interest of safety, or he may refuse the application if in his opinion the proposed magazine would be a danger to public safety.
- (2) Despite the requirements in these regulations as to the construction and placement of a licensed magazine, if the magazine described in the application is to be used to store manufactured fireworks and no other explosives, a Magazine Licence may be granted in respect of the magazine if it is at a place, and is constructed in a manner, approved by the Chief Inspector.
- (3) Regulation 51 does not apply to or in respect of a magazine the subject of a Magazine Licence granted under subregulation (2) unless and to the extent that the Chief Inspector specifies otherwise in the licence.

[Regulation 48 amended in Gazette 1 Nov 2002 p. 5371.]

49. No change to magazine once licence approved

(1) On approval of the application the applicant shall complete the magazine in accordance with these regulations and the conditions imposed by the Chief Inspector and on such completion the Magazine Licence shall be issued.

page 26 Reprint 6

(2) After issue of the licence no change shall be made either to the magazine building or to the conditions so imposed unless notice of the proposed change is first given to the Chief Inspector and his approval thereto obtained in writing, whereupon the licence may then be amended in respect of any such approved change to be made to the magazine or in the conditions of the licence.

50. Magazine storage of detonators and explosives

- (1) Detonators shall not be stored in the same magazine with other explosives unless separated from the explosives by such intervening solid partition and such distances as may be approved by an inspector for that magazine, and where no such approval is given, a separate detached magazine for storage of detonators shall be erected.
- (1a) Except as provided in subregulation (1) or as approved by an inspector, explosives of different compatibility groups shall be stored in separate magazines.
- (2) A magazine used solely for storage of detonators shall be constructed of fire-resistant materials and be secured against unauthorised interference or entry in the same way as a magazine for other explosives, and any such detonator magazine shall be deemed a part of the same magazine and be described and included in the same licence.

[Regulation 50 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2521-2; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

Construction and specifications for magazines

51. Magazines — construction and fittings

Magazines shall be constructed and fitted —

(a) where the magazine is for storage or keeping of explosives in a quantity greater than 1 000 kilograms, in a manner approved in writing;

- (b) where the magazine is for storage or keeping of explosives in a quantity not greater than 1 000 kilograms, in accordance with the following conditions or in such other manner approved in writing:
 - (1) Walls may be of corrugated iron not less than 0.5 millimetre thickness, of steel plate not less than 3 millimetres thickness, or of reinforced concrete not less than 75 millimetres thickness, or of brick or stone set in cement mortar.
 - (2) Roofing may be of corrugated iron, steel plate or reinforced concrete of the same respective thicknesses as are specified in paragraph (1) for walls.
 - (3) Doors shall be well fitted into an angle iron frame and shall be solidly constructed of wood not less than 40 millimetres in thickness, sheathed on the outside with either 1.5 millimetre thickness gauge steel plate or flat galvanised iron not less than 0.5 millimetre thickness gauge with the edges turned round the sides of the door.
 - (4) Doors shall be fitted with a mortice deadlock of approved type and no padlock shall be used on the magazine unless it is of an approved close-shackle type and secured by fittings of approved strength and security.
 - (5) Hinges when fitted externally shall be either welded to the door and frame or secured by bolts passing through the door and frame and secured on the inside.
 - (6) No glass windows shall be permitted in any magazine and any shutter or opening required for access of light shall be constructed and secured internally.

page 28 Reprint 6

- (7) The interior of the magazine shall be lined throughout so that no iron or steel is left exposed, and unless otherwise approved by the Chief Inspector, the lining shall consist of close fitting jarrah boards not less than 20 millimetres in thickness and the floor shall be of tongued and grooved jarrah boards at least 20 millimetres in thickness; but a magazine that has walls of brick, concrete or stone may have only the roof and floor lined with wood as required.
- (8) The floor of the magazine may be of stone, brick or concrete but such floor shall be covered with wood or some suitable waterproof covering to the satisfaction of the Chief Inspector.
- (9) The magazine shall be provided with an efficient lightning conductor in any case where the Chief Inspector considers that such protection is desirable or necessary and where the roof and walls are constructed of metal they shall be effectively bonded together and connected to earth.
- (10) The magazine shall be provided with ventilators both in the ceiling and near floor level and the ventilators shall be so constructed or protected on the outside as to prevent entry to the magazine of sparks or burning material from the outside.
- (11) The roof of the magazine shall overhang the walls by at least 300 millimetres all round and if the magazine is constructed wholly of steel plate it shall be protected by an adequate roof of corrugated iron.
- (12) When so approved by the Chief Inspector the magazine may be excavated in solid rock provided that the entrance is at ground level and there is a ventilation shaft from the interior of the magazine to the surface of the ground above,

Storage and keeping of explosives

- which ventilation shaft shall be extended at least 1.2 metres above ground level and be protected at the upper end to the satisfaction of an inspector.
- (13)No electric lighting wires or other form of wiring installation shall be permitted in the magazine except in any special case where the Chief Inspector considers such wiring to be necessary and approves the installation thereof in the magazine.
- (14)The magazine shall be separated from main roads, dwellings, public buildings and working places by a distance that is appropriate for the quantity of explosives specified in the licence, which distance shall be determined by the Chief Inspector, by reference to a published Table of Safety Distances approved by him for the purpose.
- (15)The magazine may be wholly or partly surrounded by substantial mounding of earth or other approved material to a height level with that of the eaves, and the provision of such mounding shall be at the discretion of the Chief Inspector who may require mounding in any case where he considers it to be necessary.
- The internal dimensions of the magazine shall be (16)such that when it is filled to its licensed capacity there will remain sufficient space to permit free circulation of air and to allow easy working access to any of the explosives.

[Regulation 51 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3313; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2522.]

Rules for magazines

[Heading amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3313.]

52. Magazine rules

In relation to magazines the following rules shall where applicable be observed and complied with and the Chief Inspector shall prepare a summary of essential rules which the licensee shall keep posted inside the magazine:

- (1) The quantity of explosives stored or kept at any time in a magazine shall not exceed the quantity specified in the licence in respect of that magazine.
- (2) The magazine shall be used only for the storing or keeping of explosives specified in the licence and the packages in which they are contained, together with such tools or implements as are necessary for handling the packages or the explosives.
- (3) The magazine shall be kept securely locked except when required to be opened for purposes connected with the use or management thereof, and the keys shall be in charge of a trustworthy person who shall also attend to the care and management of the magazine and be responsible for its condition and maintenance.
- (4) There shall be kept in every magazine a broom suitable for sweeping out the floor and at the doorway one coir mat, and the floor shall be swept clear of debris and grit at weekly intervals and the mat kept in clean condition.
- (5) There shall not be permitted in or near any magazine any article or substance of a flammable nature, and no naked light, matches or cigarette lighters shall be taken or carried into a magazine. Articles liable to spontaneous ignition, including oiled rags, cotton waste or any jute bagging or hessian, shall not be permitted in or near a magazine.
- (6) A person shall not smoke in or near any magazine.

- (7) No person under the age of 16 years shall be permitted to work in any magazine and no such person shall enter any magazine unless under supervision of an adult.
- (8) No person under the influence of liquor shall be permitted to enter or remain in any magazine and no intoxicating liquor shall be taken into or kept in any magazine.
- (9) The ground underneath a magazine shall be kept cleared of leaves, grass or flammable debris and the ground around the magazine shall be kept similarly cleared to a distance of not less than 8 metres therefrom.
- (10) Packages of explosives shall be stacked to a height not more than 2 metres from the floor and in such a manner as to leave an air space around the walls and to allow access to all packages, and all packages must be removed and used in such order as to ensure that the older stocks are used first.
- (11) No explosive shall be removed from its package and left exposed in a magazine, and any loose explosives shall be totally enclosed either in the original package or in a receptacle provided for the purpose.
- (12) At the approach of a thunderstorm, a magazine shall be closed and all work shall cease until the storm has passed over.

[Regulation 52 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3314; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683.]

Portable magazines

53. Application to license a portable magazine

(1) Application may be made for a licensed magazine to be a portable magazine and the Chief Inspector may grant such licence when in his opinion the circumstances require that the magazine be moved from one working place to another from time to time.

page 32 Reprint 6

(2) The licence fee for portable magazines shall be the same as that prescribed for a Licence to Store Explosives according to the weight of explosives stored.

54. Conditions relating to a portable magazine

- (1) When granting a licence for a portable magazine the Chief Inspector shall approve the type of construction and size of the magazine and may refuse to license any portable magazine that in his opinion is either not thoroughly secure or not safe for keeping explosives.
- (2) A portable magazine shall be so constructed as to remain dry inside at all times and to permit of its being conveniently and safely loaded onto or unloaded from a vehicle when moved from one place to another.
- (3) A portable magazine may be of all steel construction provided that it is lined on the inside with wood or other approved material in such a manner that no iron or steel is exposed on the inside.
- [(4) repealed]
- (5) The Chief Inspector shall determine and specify in the licence a safety distance at which the portable magazine shall be located from any working place or other occupied building and such distance shall be observed when the magazine is in use.
- (6) Every portable magazine shall at all times be located in an open space well removed from any source of fire or any flammable material, and when no open space is available, the area around the magazine shall be cleared for a distance of not less than 8 metres or the magazine shall be so enclosed by walls of earth or stone as to protect it from fire.
- (7) An inspector may at any time make inquiries as to the location of a portable magazine and the holder of the licence therefor shall when requested to do so by an inspector immediately supply him with such information relating to the portable

r. 55

- magazine as he may require together with a plan showing the location of the magazine.
- (8) A portable magazine shall be subject to any conditions that the Chief Inspector may impose with regard to the location, use or movement of that magazine, and such conditions shall be notified in writing and after such notice any contravention of those conditions shall be an offence against these regulations.
- (9) A person who uses or conveys, or causes or permits to be used or conveyed, a portable magazine in a manner dangerous to the public or contrary to these regulations commits an offence against these regulations.
- (10) The general provisions of these regulations so far as they relate to licensed magazines and to premises specified in Licences to Store Explosives shall apply also to portable magazines to such extent as may be applicable.

[Regulation 54 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3314; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683.]

Storage in Public Magazines

55. Storage in Public Magazines

Any person may store explosives in a Public Magazine appointed by the Minister pursuant to section 25 of the Act and there shall be payable to the Minister a storage charge in respect of every case or package of explosives so stored as prescribed in the Second Schedule.

56. Rules relating to Public Magazines

The following rules shall apply to the storage of explosives in a Public Magazine:

(1) The Officer in Charge of a Public Magazine shall be given not less than 24 hours' prior notice of intention to move any explosive into or out of a Public Magazine.

page 34 Reprint 6

- (2) A person desiring to remove any explosive from a Public Magazine shall, if he does not himself attend at such Public Magazine for that purpose, appoint in writing a responsible person to be his agent for that purpose, and such person or his agent shall obey all instructions of the Officer in Charge while at or near that magazine and shall give to the Officer in Charge a receipt for the explosives received by him for removal.
- (3) The Officer in Charge shall be notified in writing if an explosive while stored in a Public Magazine is sold or transferred to a person other than the person in whose name the explosive is stored.
- (4) No explosive shall be removed from a Public Magazine for further distribution or use unless the Chief Inspector is satisfied that the explosive is in good condition and is of a type that has been authorised or otherwise approved for sale or use.

57. Duties of O.I.C. of a Public Magazine

The Officer in Charge of a Public Magazine shall —

- (a) superintend the receipt, delivery, storage, sampling, examination, repacking or removal of any explosive;
- (b) keep a record of all explosives received, stored, delivered and removed;
- (c) maintain in good order the magazine area including buildings, tools and equipment used in connection therewith;
- (d) ensure that the provisions of the Act and these regulations as far as they apply, are strictly observed and complied with; and
- (e) report to the Chief Inspector on all matters relating to the storage and handling of explosives in the Public Magazine area.

58. No entry to area near Public Magazine

A person shall not enter within any area whereon a Public Magazine is situated except with the authority of the Minister or the Chief Inspector, and a person so authorised shall observe and take all necessary precautions as the Officer in Charge of the Public Magazine may direct and require.

Explosives reserves

59. Rules relating to explosives reserves

Where in respect of any reserved land vested in him for purposes connected with explosives the Minister has power to lease for the purpose the whole or any part of that land, the following rules shall apply and be observed in relation to any of such reserved land leased by the Minister:

- (1) The lessee of the land so leased may use the same for the erection of a magazine or for any other purpose connected with the handling or storage of explosives as the Chief Inspector may approve.
- (2) The lessee shall pay to the Minister an annual rental for the land so leased which rental shall be known as a "Tonnage Fee" and shall be assessed
 - (a) where any part of the land so leased has a licensed magazine erected on it, on each tonne of explosives for which the magazine is licensed;
 - (aa) where any part of the land so leased, other than any part on which a licensed magazine is erected, is held or used to store ammonium nitrate, on the area of the part;
 - (b) where any part of the land so leased, other than any part on which a licensed magazine is erected, is held or used to store material connected with explosives, other than ammonium nitrate, on the maximum tonnage of the material that can be

page 36 Reprint 6

- stored on the part at the rate per tonne of half the fee prescribed per tonne of explosives for which a magazine is licensed; and
- (c) where any part of the land so leased is used for the erection of a building which is an office, garage or working place, at the fee prescribed for the licensed storage of 5 tonnes of explosives.
- (3) Tonnage Fees shall be those specified in the Second Schedule.
- (4) A magazine erected on the land so leased shall be licensed pursuant to the provisions of these regulations and be subject to all those provisions as they apply to licensed magazines, and such licence shall be granted to the lessee of the land so leased who shall pay the prescribed licence fee specified in the Second Schedule.
- (5) The Minister may appoint a person to be the Officer in Charge on any reserved land vested in him and such person shall also be the Officer in Charge of any Public Magazine on that reserved land.
- (6) The Officer in Charge on any reserved land, if the Minister so recommends, shall have and may exercise all the powers of an inspector under the Act and these regulations.
- (7) The licensee of any magazine on reserved land shall be responsible for the handling and movement of explosives into and out of such magazine, provided that he may appoint in writing a responsible person to be his agent for that purpose, and the licensee or his agent and all workers under his control shall observe these regulations so far as they apply to the handling and storage of explosives and to the management of magazines.
- (8) The licensee of any magazine on reserved land shall have free access to such magazine, but if there is an Officer in Charge shall not enter upon the reserved land

- for the purpose of moving explosives except during such times as may be arranged with the Chief Inspector.
- (9) All movement of explosives on any reserved land shall be carried out in daylight, within normal working hours and at a time when the Officer in Charge or his duly appointed deputy is available for purposes of inspection.

[Regulation 59 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3314; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683; 12 Dec 1997 p. 7279; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2481; 3 Jan 2006 p. 3-4.]

Temporary storage

60. Storage of explosives — under 3 months

- (1) When any explosive is required to be stored or kept at any place for a period not exceeding 3 months, an application shall be made to the Chief Inspector for approval of temporary storage, and the Chief Inspector may at his discretion grant permission in writing for such temporary storage subject to such conditions as in his opinion are desirable or necessary in the circumstances.
- (2) At the expiration of 3 months such permission may be extended for a further period not exceeding 3 months if the Chief Inspector is satisfied that such extension is warranted in the circumstances.

61. Storage of explosives — more than 6 months

(1) Storage of explosives for any period exceeding 6 months shall be deemed to be storage for a period of one year and shall be subject to the granting of a Magazine Licence and to payment of the prescribed fee for such licence and, if the storage is on land vested in the Minister for the purpose of magazines for explosives, to payment of the prescribed Tonnage Fees.

page 38 Reprint 6

(2) The temporary storage of explosives under written permission shall be in the manner provided in these regulations according to the quantity and type of explosives so stored, and such storage shall at all times be as approved by an inspector.

[Regulation 61 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3314.]

Part VII — Sale of explosives

62. Only licence holder may sell explosives

Except as provided in section 28 of the Act, a person shall not sell or keep for sale any explosives unless he holds a Licence to Sell Explosives, issued by the Chief Inspector.

[Regulation 62 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2522.]

63. Application for Licence to Sell Explosives

- (1) Every application for a Licence to Sell Explosives shall be made to the Chief Inspector and shall be accompanied by the prescribed fee.
- (2) The applicant shall include in the application a description, and if necessary a plan drawn to scale, of the building or buildings on his premises and shall state whether explosives are to be stored or kept on the premises and if so, of what kind and in what quantities.
- (3) Before granting the licence the Chief Inspector shall cause an inspection to be made of the premises and shall determine whether explosives may be safely stored or kept on the premises and if so, in what quantity.

64. Storage of explosives for sale — quantities and premises

The quantities of explosives permitted to be stored or kept on the premises under a Licence to Sell Explosives shall not exceed those quantities permitted in these regulations relating to storage of explosives in premises the subject of a licence for the purpose in either Mode A or Mode B referred to in these regulations, and shall be determined by the Chief Inspector having due regard to the nature of the buildings and the work done therein, the nature and storage of any flammable goods or stocks, and the proximity of the explosives to any dwelling houses, main roads or other works.

page 40 Reprint 6

65. Granting of a Licence to Sell Explosives

- (1) The Chief Inspector may grant the Licence to Sell Explosives subject to such conditions of storage and quantities of explosives to be stored as he thinks necessary and proper, having due regard for the safety of persons and property on or about the premises.
- (2) The Chief Inspector may refuse to grant a Licence to Sell Explosives if he considers for any reason that the premises are unsuitable or unsafe for the selling or keeping of explosives; provided nevertheless that the licence may be granted subject to conditions that explosives are stored either on some other premises approved for the purpose by the Chief Inspector or in a magazine licensed under the Act and in accordance with these regulations.

66. Storage of explosives for sale — separate buildings

Explosives kept for sale under a Licence to Sell Explosives shall be stored in the same quantities and manner of storage as are provided in these regulations for the storage of explosives in premises the subject of a licence for the purpose, but the Chief Inspector may approve, on certain premises, that there may be 2 storages in Mode A referred to in these regulations when located in separate detached buildings at an approved distance from each other.

67. Emergency requirements for premises specified in licence

- (1) In respect to premises specified in a Licence to Sell Explosives, the Chief Inspector may require that there be installed in those premises a receptacle mounted on wheels and fitted with handles so as to be easily moved in case of fire or emergency.
- (2) The keeping of explosives for sale shall in all other respects be the same as provided in these regulations for the storage of explosives in premises the subject of a Licence to Store Explosives in Mode A or Mode B, and all requirements of these

regulations applicable to such premises shall apply also to premises specified in a Licence to Sell Explosives.

68. Licence holder to notify fire authority

The holder of a Licence to Sell Explosives shall notify the local fire authority for the district wherein his premises are situated of every building or receptacle used or intended to be used for the storage of explosives.

69. Precautions to avoid fire or explosion

Every person who handles explosives under a Licence to Sell Explosives shall take all reasonable precautions for the prevention of accident by fire or explosion, and every person who enters any premises on which he knows explosives are stored shall abstain from any act that may be likely to cause fire or explosion.

70. Requirements for premises used by licence holder

In respect to premises that are used by the holder of a Licence to Sell Explosives for the purpose of exercising the authority conferred by that licence, the following shall apply:

- (1) Every building or receptacle in which any explosives are contained shall be securely locked when not in use and the entrance to the building or access to the receptacle shall at all times be kept clear of any obstruction.
- (2) No explosives shall be kept or exposed to view in any part of the premises that are ordinarily entered by the public.
- (3) A person shall not sell or offer for sale on the premises any explosive that has been removed from its original package or container unless the explosive is completely enclosed in a substantial case, bag or wrapping so as to protect the explosive from damage and to prevent any explosive from escaping, and unless the outer package or wrapping is marked by brand or securely attached

page 42 Reprint 6

- label with the word "EXPLOSIVE" in letters not less than 13 millimetres high and of bright red colour.
- (4) A person shall not sell or offer for sale on the premises any explosive unless that explosive appears in good physical condition, and any explosive that has for any reason become unfit for sale shall be brought to the notice of an inspector who may deal with it as he thinks fit.

[Regulation 70 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2683; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2522.]

71. Records to be kept

- (1) The occupier of premises used for the sale of explosives pursuant to a Licence to Sell Explosives shall enter in a book to be kept by him for that purpose the name and address of every person to whom, and the date on which, explosives are sold, together with the quantity and nature of the explosives, and the purchaser or his agent shall also sign his name in the book.
- (2) An inspector or any member of the Police Force may at any time inspect the book in which sales of explosives are recorded and may make copies of any record contained therein or take any extracts therefrom.

72. No sale of explosives to persons under 18 years

No explosives shall be sold or delivered to a person who is apparently under the age of 18 years.

73. No window displays

- (1) No explosive shall be exhibited or exposed for sale in any shop window or any part of the premises, but this provision shall not prohibit the display of dummy explosives for such purpose.
- (2) The occupier of premises used for the sale of explosives pursuant to a Licence to Sell Explosives may exhibit on those premises a notice reading "Licensed to Sell Explosives".

74. Direct sale of explosives — quantity

Nothing in these regulations shall prevent the holder of a Licence to Sell Explosives from selling or dealing in any quantity of any authorised explosives exceeding the maximum quantity permitted to be stored in his premises if the explosives are conveyed directly from the source of supply to the place of storage and use of the purchaser.

75. Explosives only to be sold to authorised persons

- (1) No explosives shall be sold by any person unless he is satisfied that the purchaser is authorised under the Act and these regulations to be in possession of explosives.
- (2) A person who sells explosives to the holder of a permit to purchase explosives shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, forward to the Chief Inspector a portion or copy of that permit indicating the quantity and type of explosive sold, the date of the sale, and the name and address of the holder of the permit.

[Regulation 75 amended in Gazette 30 May 1975 p. 1704.]

76. Authorised persons

The following persons are authorised to have possession of explosives:

- (1) A manager (as defined in the *Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994*) of a mine, or an agent authorised in writing by the manager to purchase explosives for use in that mine.
- (2) A holder of a licence under the Act for the storage and keeping of explosives in accordance with these regulations.
- (3) A person who possesses, and can if necessary produce, a permit to purchase explosives or a shotfirer's permit issued in accordance with these regulations, which permit is current and unexpired.

page 44 Reprint 6

- (4) Any person who is approved and authorised by any Department of Works of the Commonwealth in that behalf and who notifies the vendor that he is actually employed by such Department and that the explosives are to be used for the work of that Department.
- (5) A person who, being the holder of an explosives driver licence issued under the *Dangerous Goods (Transport)* (*Explosives by Road and Rail) Regulations 1999*, is driving a vehicle transporting explosives consigned by a person to another person, both of whom are authorised under the Act or these regulations to have possession of the explosives.
- (6) A holder of a licence under the Act to import, manufacture, or sell explosives.
- (7) A person who possesses, and can if necessary produce, a permit to import or bring into the State an unauthorised explosive, which permit is current and unexpired.
- (8) A person who possesses fireworks for the purposes of a display, and can if necessary produce, a permit to display the fireworks issued under the regulations.
- (9) A person conducting a transport business or a driver of a vehicle of a person conducting a transport business who is transporting explosives listed in the Table to this paragraph from a person who is authorised to possess explosives —
 - (a) in this State under this regulation; or
 - (b) in another State or a Territory under a corresponding provision of a corresponding law of that State or Territory,

to a person who is authorised to possess those explosives —

(c) in this State under this regulation; or

(d) in another State or a Territory under a corresponding provision of a corresponding law of that State or Territory.

Table

50 kgs or less of explosives of Class 1.3
250 kgs or less of explosives of Class 1.4 (not being explosives of Class 1.4S or detonators of Class 1.4B)
125 or fewer detonators of Class 1.4B
Any quantity of Class 1.4S
50 kgs or less of manufactured fireworks

[Regulation 76 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3214; 18 Aug 1972 p. 3225; 30 May 1975 p. 1704; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482; 18 Aug 2000 p. 4780-1.]

77. Safety Fuse

In these regulations, Safety Fuse shall for the purposes of sale be deemed an explosive and shall not be sold to any person apparently under the age of 18 years or to any person who is not authorised to be in possession of and to use explosives under these regulations.

78. Police powers

In matters relating to the sale of explosives a member of the Police Force has all the powers of an inspector and if he has reasonable and probable cause to suspect any contravention of these regulations, so far as they relate to the sale of explosives, he may exercise any or all of those powers.

[Part VIII repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

[Heading repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

- [79. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 53.]
- [**80-91.** Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

[Heading repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

page 46 Reprint 6

[92.	Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
	[Heading repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

- [**92A-92G.** Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
- [93. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 55.]
- [94. Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
- [95, 96. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 55.]
- [97. Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
- [98. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 55.]
- [99. Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
- [100-102. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 55.]
- [103, 104. Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
- [105. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 56.]

 [Heading repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]
- [106. Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

Part IX — Packing and marking of explosives

107. Application of this Part

This Part applies to explosives that are imported into, or stored in, the State.

[Regulation 107 inserted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

[107A. Repealed in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

108. Packing, labelling etc. explosives generally

- (1) Authorised explosives to which this Part applies must be packed and labelled, branded or marked in accordance with the Australian Explosives Code as if they were to be transported by road or rail.
- (2) Unauthorised explosives to which this Part applies must be packed in a manner approved by the Chief Inspector.

[Regulation 108 inserted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2482.]

[109-112. Repealed in Gazette 11 Jan 1994 p. 56.]

page 48 Reprint 6

Part X — Use of explosives

113. Use of explosives at mines

If a provision in this Part is inconsistent with a provision of the *Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994* or a regulation made under that Act, the latter provision or regulation prevails.

[Regulation 113 inserted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

114. Application where workplace under Commonwealth supervision

Nothing in this Part shall restrict or control use of explosives at any working place that is under the supervision of the Commonwealth Department of Works.

[Regulation 114 amended in Gazette 30 May 1975 p. 1704.]

115. Condition where explosives are used

At all other places where explosives are used the following conditions shall apply:

- (1) No person under the age of 18 years shall carry out or attempt to carry out or be in charge of any blasting operation.
- (2) No person under the age of 15 years shall be permitted to enter any place where explosives are being fired or are being prepared for firing.
- (3) A person shall not use or permit to be used any explosive unless he is the holder of a relevant permit or is otherwise authorised to do so under the Act.
- (4) A person shall not fire or detonate any explosives, or attempt so to do, unless he has adequate knowledge of the correct methods of using or handling the explosives and of the safety precautions necessary to be taken and observed.
- (5) Any procedures, methods and safety precautions for the handling and use of explosives not prescribed by these

- regulations shall be in accordance with the methods specified in the S.A.A. Explosives Code C.A. 23-1967 as from time to time amended.
- (6) Any person desirous of carrying out any blasting or using any explosives within the limits of any city or town shall give not less than 24 hours prior notice of his desire to do so to the clerk of the Council of the Local Authority ² and thereupon the clerk may appoint a time when the blasting shall be carried out or the explosive used and may give such directions in writing as are deemed necessary for public safety; provided that
 - (a) permission may be refused by the clerk of the Council of the Local Authority², for the blasting or the use of the explosive if it is considered by him to be dangerous or unnecessary; and
 - (b) where the clerk ² has granted the permission, it may subsequently be withdrawn or cancelled if the blasting causes or is likely to cause any danger to the public or any damage to property.
- (7) Before blasting operations commence, all persons in the vicinity shall be warned that blasting is to be carried out and they shall be advised that audible warning will be given before any series of shots is fired.
- (8) Before firing any explosive the person in charge shall take all reasonable precautions by display of warning notices or signals or the halting of traffic on a road to ensure that no persons are endangered by the blast.
- (9) Where safety fuse is used for firing an explosive charge
 - (a) it shall be at least one metre in length;
 - (b) it shall have a burning time of not less than 90 seconds and not more than 120 seconds for one metre of fuse; and
 - (c) in the case of a single charge it may be ignited with a match but for the lighting of 2 or more

page 50 Reprint 6

safety fuses there must be used an approved fuse-lighter or some approved multiple fuse firing device.

- The misfiring of an explosive charge shall be dealt with (10)according to the rules of the SAA Explosives Code as from time to time amended and every care shall be taken that no explosive is left unexploded at the working place.
- (11)At any place where explosives are used or intended to be used the explosives shall be fully enclosed either in the original package or in a carrying box of approved type marked conspicuously with the word "EXPLOSIVES" and the explosives shall be effectively protected from damage due to the effects of the weather or any other cause.
- (12)A person who uses explosives at any place shall ensure that all surplus explosive is returned to the magazine, or place of storage, and that no unauthorised person has access to the explosive at any time.
- A person shall not carry out any blasting with explosives (13)except between the hours of sunrise and sunset, unless he obtains the special approval of an inspector or of a Police Officer to do so at a time outside those hours.
- (14)Where in any blasting operation there is a possibility of damage being caused or danger from flying rock or other material projected by the blast, the person in charge shall ensure that suitable precautions are taken by the use of blasting mats or other suitable cover or by any other means to prevent such damage or danger.

[Regulation 115 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3317-18; 18 Aug 1972 p. 3225; 12 Jul 1974 p. 2684; 30 May 1975 p. 1704; 27 Aug 1993 p. 4621.]

Permits to Purchase Explosives

[Heading amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3318.]

116. Permit to Purchase Explosives

- (1) Any person who is not otherwise authorised to be in possession of explosives under the provisions of the Act or these regulations and who desires to purchase any explosives shall first obtain a Permit to Purchase Explosives.
- (2) Every application for a Permit to Purchase Explosives shall be made in person by the applicant to an issuing authority, which may comprise any of the following officers:
 - (a) An inspector.
 - (b) An inspector of mines, or an assistant inspector of mines, appointed under the *Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994*.
 - [(c) deleted]
 - (d) An officer of the Police Force.
 - (e) A Magistrate or a Justice of the Peace.
 - (f) A Mining Registrar.
- (3) The issuing authority shall, before granting a Permit to Purchase Explosives, be satisfied that the applicant has a lawful reason for being in possession of and using explosives and if not so satisfied may refuse to grant the permit, and no such permit shall be issued without the consent of the Chief Inspector except in relation to the development of an area of agricultural, forest or pastoral land exceeding 40 hectares or for *bona fide* prospecting.
- (4) A Permit to Purchase Explosives shall be valid for the period specified therein which period shall not exceed 12 months from the date of issue.

page 52 Reprint 6

- (5) The holder of a Permit to Purchase Explosives shall be responsible for the action of any person keeping, handling or using explosives under his supervision and where any breach of these regulations occurs, proceedings in respect thereof may be taken against the holder of the permit.
- (6) A Permit to Purchase Explosives may authorise the use of the explosives
 - (a) at any place therein specified, but not otherwise; or
 - (b) generally outside the limits of any city or town.
- (7) A Permit to Purchase Explosives does not authorise the use of the explosives
 - (a) in circumstances whereby any property may be damaged unlawfully or injury caused to any person;
 - (b) at a time when any other person, not being a person working under the immediate and direct supervision of the holder of the permit, is present in a dangerous proximity.

[Regulation 116 amended in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3318; 30 May 1975 p. 1705; 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

Shotfirer's Permit

[Heading inserted in Gazette 18 Aug 1972 p. 3225.]

116A. Shotfirer's Permit

- (1) The Chief Inspector may issue a Shotfirer's Permit for a period of one year, and a renewal thereof for any further such period, to a person who
 - (a) has attained the age of 18 years;
 - (b) has made written application to the Chief Inspector for the permit, and paid the prescribed fee for the permit or any renewal thereof;

- (c) has satisfied the Chief Inspector that he, the applicant,
 - may safely be entrusted with the use of explosives and has a necessity for such use;
 - (ii) is competent to discharge the duties of a shotfirer and is otherwise suitable to the holder of such a permit;

and

- (d) supplies in duplicate a photographic likeness of himself, of a size not less than 25 millimetres square, when requested by the Chief Inspector.
- The Chief Inspector may require an applicant for a Shotfirer's (1a) Permit to undergo an examination to show that he may be safely entrusted with the use of explosives and the applicant shall pay to the Chief Inspector the examination fee specified in the Second Schedule.
 - A Shotfirer's Permit, and any renewal thereof, is issued subject (2) to the following conditions
 - on the issue of the permit, the holder shall sign it;
 - (b) it is a valid permit only for the person to whom it is issued and whose signature appears thereon;
 - it permits the use of explosives in shotfiring only by (c) methods that are satisfactory to the Chief Inspector and are specified on the permit;
 - the holder continues to satisfy the Chief Inspector as to (d) the matters referred to in subregulation (1)(c);
 - (e) it may, by written notice given to the holder, be cancelled by the Chief Inspector, if he is satisfied that any of the conditions referred to in paragraphs (a) to (d), both inclusive, have not been, or are not being, complied with.

(3) The holder of a Shotfirer's Permit shall be responsible for the action of any person keeping, handling or using explosives under his supervision, and where any breach of these regulations occurs proceedings in respect thereof may be taken against the holder of the permit.

[Regulation 116A inserted in Gazette 18 Aug 1972 p. 3225; amended in Gazette 30 May 1975 p. 1705; 12 Mar 1982 p. 848.]

Part XI — Special provisions for fireworks

117. Composition of firework treated as explosive composition

Firework composition shall in all matters be regulated in the same manner as is provided in the Act and these regulations for regulating explosives.

[Regulation 117 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

- [118, 119. Repealed in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]
- [120. Repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3318.]
- [121. Repealed in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

122. Manufactured fireworks treated as explosives

All manufactured fireworks shall be regulated in all respects as provided in the Act and these regulations for regulating explosives, unless otherwise exempted or provided for under these regulations.

[Regulation 122 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

[123. Repealed in Gazette 1 Nov 2002 p. 5371.]

124. Entry Permit for imported fireworks

The importation of fireworks of any classification shall be regulated by issue of an Entry Permit pursuant to these regulations in respect of each consignment, and a consignment shall not be released for distribution and sale until samples have been examined by an inspector and such inspector certifies in writing that the fireworks are approved under these regulations.

125. Inspection fee

In respect of every consignment imported under an Entry Permit and subsequently sampled and tested by an inspector pursuant to regulation 124, the importer shall pay to the Chief Inspector the

page 56 Reprint 6

inspection fee specified in the Second Schedule to these regulations.

126. Chief Inspector may exempt certain fireworks

The Chief Inspector may exempt from the requirements of an Entry Permit and inspection any fireworks of the shopgoods class that are in his opinion of no danger when either stored or in use.

[Regulation 126 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

[127, 128. Repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3318.]

129. Manufacturing fireworks

The manufacture of any fireworks either as composition or as manufactured goods shall be carried on only in a place licensed under the Act and these regulations for manufacture of explosives and subject to compliance with any conditions imposed by the Chief Inspector for general safety and security.

[Heading repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

130. Public safety

No fireworks shall be imported, manufactured, stored, kept, conveyed or sold for any purpose when in the opinion of the Chief Inspector they are of such character as to endanger the public safety.

[Regulation 130 inserted in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

[Heading repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

131. Sale and use of fireworks by persons without permits

(1) No firework composition and no manufactured fireworks shall be sold to any person, unless that person is the holder of a permit issued by the Chief Inspector, authorising him to

- purchase the fireworks for the purpose of holding a display of fireworks for public entertainment.
- (2) A person shall not use or permit to be used any manufactured fireworks, unless he is the holder of a permit as prescribed by this regulation, or he uses the fireworks under the immediate supervision of the holder of such a permit.
- (3) Nothing in this regulation shall apply to or restrict
 - (a) the sale and use of manufactured fireworks which are
 - (i) snaps for bon-bons containing not more than 1.6 grams of composition per 1 000;
 - (ii) throw-downs containing not more than 2.6 grams explosive per 1 000 and not less than 2.25 kilograms non-explosive material per 1 000;
 - (iii) amorce caps of approved small sizes;
 - (iv) streamer bombs not containing arsenic or antimony;
 - (v) other devices containing small amounts of explosive which are approved by the Chief Inspector;
 - (b) the sale to any person of or above the age of 18 years, or the use by that person of manufactured fireworks which are pyrotechnic devices used only for special purposes such as mining, agriculture or meteorology or distress or signalling devices, if that pyrotechnic device is used only for those special purposes.
- (4) The fee for a permit to purchase fireworks for the holding of a display of manufactured fireworks is specified in the Second Schedule.

[Regulation 131 inserted in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319; amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2684; 12 Mar 1982 p. 849.]

page 58 Reprint 6

132. Labelling of larger fireworks

All manufactured fireworks other than those specified in regulation 131(3) shall be labelled or marked with the name of the fireworks and the name of the manufacturer, and shall be sold with instructions as to the method of discharging or firing the fireworks but this regulation does not apply to manufactured fireworks which are sold for the purpose of giving a public display when the fireworks are to be used and the display given by the person who has himself manufactured the fireworks.

[Regulation 132 inserted in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

[133, 134. Repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

Storage of fireworks

135. Storage of firework composition

Any firework composition shall be stored and kept in accordance with the provisions of these regulations for explosives, but no such composition shall be in the same magazine with explosives of any other class.

[Regulation 135 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

136. Storage of fireworks other than shopgoods class

- (1) In this regulation
 - "NEQ", in relation to manufactured fireworks, stands for net explosive quantity and means the weight of explosive in the fireworks.
- (2) This regulation does not apply to manufactured fireworks of the shopgoods class.
- (3) Manufactured fireworks weighing 50 kgs NEQ or less must be stored
 - (a) in premises the subject of a Licence to Store Explosives in Mode B granted under Part VI;

- (b) in a magazine the subject of a Magazine Licence granted under Part VI; or
- (c) in a Public Magazine appointed by the Minister under section 25 of the Act.
- (4) Manufactured fireworks weighing more than 50 kgs NEQ must be stored
 - (a) in a magazine the subject of a Magazine Licence granted under Part VI; or
 - (b) in a Public Magazine appointed by the Minister under section 25 of the Act.

[Regulation 136 inserted in Gazette 1 Nov 2002 p. 5372.]

137. Storage of shopgoods class fireworks

Fireworks of the shopgoods class when removed from the original outer package shall be stored in closed spark-proof receptacles or containers, but shall not be so stored in the same place with any flammable goods.

[Regulation 137 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

138. Shopgoods class fireworks exceeding 180 kg

Fireworks of the shopgoods class when contained in the original outer packages and in a quantity exceeding 180 kilograms weight shall not be stored in any premises that are accessible to the public or that are used also as a dwelling, and any storage of such fireworks shall be notified to and approved by an officer of the Fire Brigade.

[Regulation 138 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2684; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

139. Shopgoods class fireworks exceeding 900 kg

A person shall not store any fireworks of the shopgoods class in a quantity exceeding 900 kilograms except in a building which is of approved fire-resisting construction and not in general

page 60 Reprint 6

occupation, and no such storage shall be within the boundaries of any city or town unless approved by the Chief Fire Officer thereof.

[Regulation 139 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2684; 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

140. Storage directions by inspector or Fire Brigade officer

Storage of fireworks at any place shall be in the manner approved by an inspector or an officer of the Fire Brigade, and the occupier of that place shall carry out any direction given by the inspector or officer insofar as it applies to the storage of fireworks and the prevention of fire or explosion.

Displays of fireworks

[141. Repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

142. Public fireworks display requires permit

A person who intends to hold a display of fireworks for entertainment of the public shall give notice in writing to the Chief Inspector at least 14 days before the date of the display, and if the Chief Inspector is satisfied that the display will be organised and conducted with due regard for the safety of the public and with the approval of both the Police Department ³ and the Fire Brigade, he may issue to that person a Permit for Display of Fireworks authorising him to purchase the fireworks and to hold the display.

143. Application for Permit to Display Fireworks

An application for a Permit to Display Fireworks may be refused by the Chief Inspector, if in his opinion or that of the Police Department ³ or the Fire Brigade there is reasonable cause for such refusal.

r. 144

144. Conditions relating to public fireworks display

At any display of fireworks for public entertainment the following conditions shall be observed and complied with:

- (1) There shall at all times be at least 2 operators of not less than 18 years of age constantly on duty during the display.
- (2) At least 2 fire extinguishers each of not less than 9 litres capacity and of a type approved by the Fire Brigade shall be kept and maintained in proper working order at widely separated points within the actual firing area.
- (3) The spectators shall be restrained behind defined lines not less than 45 metres from the point at which the fireworks are discharged and only persons in actual charge of the display shall be allowed inside those lines.
- (4) The place from which the fireworks are discharged shall be not less than 60 metres from the nearest permanent building, public road or railroad and not less than 15 metres from the nearest above ground telephone or telegraph line, tree or other overhead obstruction.
- (5) Mortars for projection of aerial charges shall be buried to the neck or heavily sand bagged and be so placed that the charge will fire as nearly vertically as possible or away from spectators and be allowed to cool between successive charges.
- (6) Every precaution shall be taken before and during the display to prevent any unauthorised member of the public gaining access to any of the fireworks.
- (7) Any firework remaining unfired after the display shall be immediately removed and disposed of in a safe manner.
- (8) A fireworks display shall not be held when the velocity of the wind is more than 50 kilometres per hour, and in any such case the Chief Inspector may amend the permit

page 62 Reprint 6

- to allow the display to be held at a future date suitable to the person or body holding the display.
- (9) If while a firework display is being held any police officer or fire officer is of opinion that there is danger to the spectators or that for any other good reason the display should not continue, the officer may order that the display cease, and thereupon the display shall immediately be stopped and shall not be resumed until the cause of danger is removed or made safe and the officer is of opinion that there is no longer any reason for stopping the display.
- (10) Any dispute arising from the conditions contained in this regulation for firework displays shall be referred to the Chief Inspector for determination and the decision of the Chief Inspector thereon shall be final.

[Regulation 144 amended in Gazette 12 Jul 1974 p. 2684.]

[Heading deleted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

[145. Repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3319.]

Part XII — Miscellaneous

Testing of explosives

146. Inspector may examine or test explosives

An inspector may carry out such examinations or tests of any explosive as he may deem to be necessary for the purposes of the Act and of these regulations.

147. Fee for Abel Heat Test

The fee specified in the Second Schedule shall be payable by an importer of explosives in respect of any Abel Heat Tests made on samples of explosives imported by him.

[Regulation 147 amended in Gazette 14 Jul 1978 p. 2524.]

148. Imported explosive with damaged packaging

When any package of any explosive is found to be damaged on arrival at the place of importation, an inspector shall supervise the overhaul and reconditioning of such package and the importer shall pay an inspection fee as specified in the Second Schedule.

Accidents

149. Accidental fire or explosion

- (1) Where any accident by fire or explosion occurs in any factory, magazine, premises or other place where explosives are kept, the occupier shall make, or cause to be made, a report to the Chief Inspector as soon thereafter as may be practicable.
- [(2) repealed]
- (3) The Chief Inspector or an inspector may investigate any accident involving explosives and for that purpose may make any inquiries and take any samples or exhibits that in his opinion may be relevant to or assist in determining the cause of the accident.

page 64 Reprint 6

(4) No factory, magazine, premises or place shall be reconstructed after an accident by fire or explosion involving explosives until the Chief Inspector consents to the reconstruction being done.

[Regulation 149 amended in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2483.]

Magazines and licensed premises

150. Safety precautions for magazines and licensed premises

The occupier or the licensee of any place specified in a licence authorising the storage or keeping of explosives, or any person who keeps, conveys or sells explosives, shall —

- (a) observe and take all due precautions for prevention of fire or explosion and to prevent unauthorised persons gaining access to the explosives;
- (b) abstain from any act likely to cause fire or explosion and warn other persons against any such acts;
- (c) carry out the instructions of an inspector in any matter connected with safe keeping or security of the explosives;
- (d) do all things that are reasonably necessary to ensure that persons in his employ or under his control also carry out the provisions of this regulation.

151. Unauthorised entry

Any person who enters by force or without authority or lawful reason any place where explosives are kept may be removed therefrom by a Police Officer and charged with an offence against these regulations.

Unlawful possession of explosives

152. Unlawful possession of explosives

Any person who is found to have in his possession or under his control any explosive may be required by an inspector or by any police officer to satisfy him by production of a licence, permit

or other authority under the Act or these regulations, that such person is authorised to be in possession of the explosive, and if the person fails to produce such licence, permit or other authority when required to do so under this regulation, he shall be deemed to be in unlawful possession of the explosive and shall be guilty of an offence against the Act and these regulations.

Trespass on premises

153. Trespass on premises

- (1) A person shall not enter without permission, or otherwise trespass in or on any magazine area or any explosives wharf or landing jetty, or interfere with any magazine building or any premises the subject of or specified in a licence or permit granted or issued pursuant to these regulations.
- (2) A person who is guilty of such entry, trespass or interference may be forthwith removed from that place by an inspector or police officer, or by the licensee or his authorised agent, and may be charged with an offence against these regulations.

Licences and permits

154. Duration, transfer and variation of licences

- (1) A licence shall remain in force for one year from the date of issue and at the end of that time may be renewed on payment of the licence fee specified in the Second Schedule if the circumstances relating to the licence have not been changed in any way that the licence if renewed would not conform with these regulations.
- (2) Where the ownership of occupancy of any place the subject of or specified in a licence is transferred or altered, the new owner or occupier shall forthwith give notice in writing of the change to the Chief Inspector.

page 66 Reprint 6

- (3) A licence may be transferred to another person at the discretion of the Chief Inspector who upon payment of the fee prescribed for transfer of a licence may either issue a new licence or amend the existing licence.
- (4) The occupier or owner of any place the subject of or specified in a licence under these regulations shall notify the Chief Inspector in writing of any material alteration of circumstances or conditions at that place from those existing at the time the licence was granted.

155. Cancellation or revocation of licence

- (1) A licence may be cancelled or revoked by the Chief Inspector if
 - (a) the holder of the licence fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions of the licence;
 - (b) the holder of the licence is convicted of a breach of the Act or of these regulations;
 - (c) the Chief Inspector finds that there has been a material change of circumstances or conditions since the licence was issued so that the licence no longer complies with the requirements of the Act and these regulations; or
 - (d) the holder of the licence fails to make application for renewal or fails to pay the prescribed licence fee within one month from the due date.
- (2) The Chief Inspector shall give to the licensee notice in writing of the expiration of every licence and shall not cancel or revoke any licence until after the expiration of a period of 7 days from the issue of a notice in writing of his intention to cancel or revoke the licence.
- (3) When a licence in respect of any place has been cancelled or revoked by the Chief Inspector that place shall then be and be deemed to be unlicensed.

r. 156

156. Permits

- (1) A permit shall be valid only in respect of the person to whom it is issued or for the particular circumstances described on the permit and for the period specified therein.
- [(2) repealed]
- (3) A permit shall not be transferable to any other person or be used for any purpose other than that specified in writing on the permit.
- (4) A permit may be renewed.
- (5) On every permit the name of the issuing authority shall appear in legible form as well as his authority for issue of the permit. [Regulation 156 amended in Gazette 18 Aug 1972 p. 3225.]

157. Fees

All fees prescribed in the Second Schedule shall be paid to the Chief Inspector of Explosives or to any person authorised by him in that behalf.

Offences

158. General offence

Any person who —

- (a) does that which under these regulations he is forbidden to do: or
- (b) does not do that which under these regulations he is required to do; or
- (c) otherwise contravenes or fails to comply with these regulations,

commits an offence against these regulations.

page 68 Reprint 6

159. Falsifying application particulars

Any person who signs an application knowing the contents thereof to be false or misleading in any particular, commits an offence against these regulations.

160. False statements

Any person who makes any false statement concerning the purchase or possession of any explosive commits an offence against these regulations.

161. Penalty

A person who is guilty of a breach of any of these regulations is liable to a penalty not exceeding \$50 000 or, if the breach is a continuous breach, not exceeding \$5 000 for each day during which the breach has continued.

[Regulation 161 amended in Gazette 14 Mar 1980 p. 897; 18 Jan 1991 p. 235.]

Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

First Schedule — Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

[r. 2]

[Heading inserted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2484.]

Notes

- (1) This Schedule lists those of the goods named in Appendix 5 to the sixth edition of the *Australian Code for the Transport of Dangerous Goods by Road and Rail* ("ADG 6") that are explosives. Appendix 5 lists goods considered too dangerous to transport.
- (2) **'N.E.S.'** means "not elsewhere specified". If an entry in this Schedule includes 'N.E.S.' it means the explosives named in the entry are not only named in Appendix 5 to ADG 6, but also in an entry in another Appendix to ADG 6.
- (3) The entry in the other Appendix will name the explosives and specify the criteria to be satisfied before they may be transported; for example the explosives must be mixed with diluents, stabilizers, inhibitors, desensitizers, phlegmatizers, solvents, wetting agents or adulterants to overcome the inherent instability of the explosives.
- (4) The entry in this Schedule refers to explosives that do not meet the criteria specified in that other Appendix.
- (5) This list is not an exhaustive listing of explosives that are too dangerous to be transported.

Acetyl acetone peroxide, N.E.S.

Acetyl benzoyl peroxide, N.E.S.

Acetyl cyclohexane sulfonyl peroxide, N.E.S.

Acetylene silver nitrate

Acetyl hydroperoxide, N.E.S. (Alt: Peracetic acid)

Acetyl peroxide, N.E.S.

Ammonium azide

Ammonium bromate

Ammonium chlorate

Ammonium fulminate

Ammonium nitrate, N.E.S.

Ammonium nitrite

page 70 Reprint 6

Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

First Schedule

Ammonium permanganate

Ammonium picrate, N.E.S.

Ammonium salt and a chlorate, mixtures of

Ammonium salt and a nitrite, mixtures of

tert-Amyl hydroperoxide, N.E.S.

tert-Amyl perdecanoate, N.E.S.

tert-Amyl peroxyacetate, N.E.S.

tert-Amyl peroxybenzoate, N.E.S.

tert-Amyl peroxyneodecanoate, N.E.S.

tert-Amyl peroxypivalate, N.E.S.

Antimony sulfide and chlorate, mixtures of

Arsenic sulfide and chlorate, mixtures of

Ascaridole

Azaurolic acid (salts of), N.E.S.

Azidodithiocarbonic acid

Azidoethyl nitrate

Azido guanidine picrate, N.E.S.

5-Azido-1-hydroxy tetrazole

Azido hydroxy tetrazole (mercury and silver salts)

3-Azido-1,2-propylene glycol dinitrate

Aziridine, N.E.S. (Alt: Ethyleneimine)

Azotetrazole, N.E.S.

Barium azide, N.E.S.

Benzene diazonium chloride, N.E.S.

Benzene diazonium nitrate, N.E.S.

Benzene-1,3-disulfohydrazide, N.E.S.

Benzene triozonide

Benzoxidiazoles, N.E.S.

Benzoyl azide

Biphenyl triozonide

2,2-Bis-(tert-butylperoxy) butane, N.E.S.

1,1-Bis-(tert-butylperoxy) cyclohexane, N.E.S.

2,2-Bis-(4,4-di-tert-butylperoxy cyclohexyl) propane, N.E.S.

Bis-(2-methylbenzoyl) peroxide, N.E.S.

Bis-(3,5,5-trimethyl-1,2-dioxolanyl-3)peroxide, N.E.S.

Bromine azide

4-Bromo-1,2-dinitrobenzene

1,2,4-Butanetriol trinitrate

Butene oxide, N.E.S. (Alt: 1,2-Butylene oxide)

tert-Butoxycarbonyl azide

Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

1,2-Butylene oxide, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl hydroperoxide, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl peracetate, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl perdiethylacetate and tert-Butyl perbenzoate mixtures, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl perisobutyrate, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl peroxyacetate, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl peroxybutyl fumarate, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl peroxycrotonate, N.E.S. (Alt: tert-Butyl percrotonate)

n-Butyl peroxydicarbonate, N.E.S. (Alt: n-Butyl

perdicarbonate, and Di- n-butylperoxydicarbonate)

tert-Butyl peroxyisobutyrate, N.E.S. (Alt: tert-Butyl perisobutyrate)

tert-Butyl peroxyisopropylcarbonate, N.E.S.

1-(2- tert-Butylperoxy isopropyl)-3-isopropenylbenzene, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl peroxyneoheptanoate, N.E.S.

tert-Butyl peroxypivalate, N.E.S. (Alt: tert-Butyl perpivalate)

Calcium azide, N.E.S.

Chloric acid, N.E.S.

Chlorine azide

Chlorine cyanide, N.E.S. (Alt: Cyanogen chloride)

Chlorine dioxide

p-Chlorobenzoyl peroxide, N.E.S.

3-Chloroperoxybenzoic acid, N.E.S.

Copper acetylide

Copper amine azide

Copper tetramine nitrate

Cumyl hydroperoxide, N.E.S.

Cumyl peroxyneodecanoate, N.E.S.

Cumyl peroxyneoheptanoate, N.E.S.

Cumyl peroxypivalate, N.E.S.

Cyanogen chloride, N.E.S.

Cyanuric triazide

Cyclohexanone peroxide, N.E.S.

Cyclotetramethylene tetranitramine, N.E.S. (Alt: HMX)

Cyclotrimethylene trinitramine, N.E.S. (Alt: RDX or Cyclonite)

Diacetone alcohol peroxides, N.E.S.

Diacetyl peroxide, N.E.S. (Alt: Acetyl peroxide)

1,1-Di-(tert-amylperoxy)cyclohexane, N.E.S.

p-Diazidobenzene

page 72 Reprint 6

1,1-Diazidoethane

1,1'-Diazidoethane

1,2'-Diazidoethane

1,1'-Diazoaminonaphthalene

Diazoaminotetrazole, N.E.S.

Diazodinitrophenol, N.E.S.

Diazodiphenylmethane

Diazonium nitrates, N.E.S.

Diazonium perchlorates, N.E.S.

1,3-Diazopropane

Dibenzyl perdicarbonate, N.E.S.

Dibenzyl peroxydicarbonate, N.E.S.

Di- tert-butyl peroxyazelate, N.E.S.

2,2-Di-(tert-butylperoxy) butane, N.E.S.

(Alt: 2,2-Bis-(tert-butylperoxy) butane)

1,1-Di-(4- tert-butylperoxy)cyclohexane, N.E.S.

(Alt: 1,1-Bis-(4-tert-butylperoxy) cyclohexane)

Di- n-butylperoxydicarbonate, N.E.S.

Di-(tert-butylperoxy) phthalate, N.E.S.

2,2-Di-(tert-butylperoxy)propane, N.E.S.

N,N'-Dichloroazodicarbonamidine (salts of), N.E.S.

Di-4-chlorobenzoyl peroxide, N.E.S. (Alt: p-Chlorobenzoyl peroxide)

2,2-Di-(4,4-di(tert-butylperoxy)cyclohexyl) propane, N.E.S.

Di-2,4-dichlorobenzoyl peroxide, N.E.S.

Diethanol nitrosamine dinitrate, N.E.S.

Diethylene glycol dinitrate

Diethylgold bromide

Diethyl perdicarbonate, N.E.S.

Diethyl peroxydicarbonate, N.E.S. (Alt: Diethyl pericarbonate)

2,2-Dihydroperoxy propane, N.E.S.

1,8-Dihydroxy-2,4,5,7-tetranitroanthraquinone (Chrysamminic acid)

Di-(1-hydroxytetrazole), N.E.S.

Diisobutyryl peroxide, N.E.S. (Alt: Isobutyryl peroxide)

Diisopropylbenzene hydroperoxide, N.E.S.

Di-(2-methylbenzoyl) peroxide, N.E.S.

2,5-Dimethyl-2,5-di-(tert-butylperoxy)hexyne-3, N.E.S.

2,5-Dimethyl-2,5-dihydroperoxyhexane, N.E.S.

3,5-Dimethyl-3,5-dihydroxydioxolane-1,2, N.E.S.

2,5-Dimethyl-2,5-di-(3,5,5-trimethylhexanoylperoxy) hexane, N.E.S.

Dimethyleneimine, N.E.S. (Alt: Ethyleneimine)

2,5-Dimethylhexane-2,5-dihydroperoxide, N.E.S.

(Alt: 2,5-Dimethyl-2,5-dihydroperoxy hexane)

1,1-Dimethyl-3-hydroxybutyl peroxyneoheptanoate, N.E.S.

Di-(1-naphthoyl) peroxide

Di-(2-neodecanoylepoxyisopropyl) benzene, N.E.S.

Dinitro-7,8-dimethylglycoluril, N.E.S.

1,3-Dinitro-5,5-dimethyl hydantoin

1,3-Dinitro-4,5-dinitrosobenzene

1,1-Dinitroethane, N.E.S.

1,2-Dinitroethane

Dinitroglycoluril

Dinitromethane

Dinitropropylene glycol

2,4-Dinitroresorcinol (heavy metal salts of), N.E.S.

4,6-Dinitroresorcinol (heavy metal salts of), N.E.S.

Dinitroresorcinols, N.E.S.

3,5-Dinitrosalicylic acid (lead salt), N.E.S.

Dinitrosobenzylamidine and salts of, N.E.S.

N,N-Dinitroso- N,N'-dimethylterephthalimide, N.E.S.

N,N'-Dinitrosopentamethylenetetramine, N.E.S.

2,2-Dinitrostilbene

1,4-Dinitro-1,1,4,4-tetramethylolbutanetetranitrate, N.E.S.

2,4-Dinitro-1,3,5-trimethylbenzene

Di-(b -nitroxyethyl) ammonium nitrate

a,a'-Di-(nitroxy) methylether

1,9-Dinitroxy pentamethylene-2,4,6,8-tetramine, N.E.S.

Diperoxy azelaic acid, N.E.S.

Diperoxy dodecane diacid, N.E.S.

Dipropionyl peroxide, N.E.S. (Alt: Propionyl peroxide)

Distearyl perdicarbonate, N.E.S.

Distearyl peroxydicarbonate, N.E.S. (Alt: Distearyl perdicarbonate)

Di-(3,5,5-trimethyl-1,2-dioxolanyl-3) peroxide, N.E.S.

Di-(3,5,5-trimethylhexanoyl) peroxide, N.E.S.

Divinyl oxide, N.E.S. (Alt: Divinyl ether)

Ethanolamine dinitrate

Ethyl 3,3-di-(tert-amylperoxy)butyrate, N.E.S.

Ethylene diamine diperchlorate

Ethylene glycol dinitrate

Ethyleneimine, N.E.S.

Ethyl hydroperoxide

Ethyl methacrylate, N.E.S.

page 74 Reprint 6

Ethyl methyl ketone peroxide(s), N.E.S.

Ethyl nitrate

Ethyl nitrite

Ethyl perchlorate

Ethyl propenoate, N.E.S. (Alt: Ethyl acrylate)

Fulminate of mercury, N.E.S.

Fulminating gold

Fulminating platinum

Fulminating silver

Fulminic acid

Galactan trinitrate

Galactsan trinitrate

Glycerol-1,3-dinitrate

Glycerol monogluconate trinitrate

Glycerol monolactate trinitrate

Guanyl nitrosaminoguanylidene hydrazine, N.E.S.

Guanyl nitrosaminoguanyl tetrazine

Hexamethylene triperoxide diamine, N.E.S.

Hexamethylol benzene hexanitrate

Hexanitroazoxy benzene

2,2',4,4',6,6'-Hexanitro-3,3'-dihydroxyazobenzene, N.E.S.

2,2',3',4,4',6-Hexanitrodiphenylamine, N.E.S.

2,3'4,4',6,6'p-Hexanitrodiphenylether

N,N'-(Hexanitrodiphenyl) ethylene dinitramine, N.E.S.

Hexanitrodiphenyl urea

Hexanitroethane

Hexanitrooxanilide

HMX, N.E.S.

Hydrazine azide

Hydrazine chlorate

Hydrazine dicarbonic acid diazide

Hydrazine perchlorate

Hydrazine selenate

Hydrocyanic acid, anhydrous, N.E.S.

Hydrogen peroxide, concentrations greater than 60% hydrogen peroxide, N.E.S.

Hydroxylamine iodide

Hyponitrous acid

First Schedule

Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

Initiating explosives, N.E.S.

Inositol hexanitrate, N.E.S.

Inulin trinitrate, N.E.S.

Iodine azide, N.E.S.

Iodoxy compounds, N.E.S.

Iridium nitratopentamine iridium nitrate

Isobutyl methyl ketone peroxide, N.E.S.

Isobutyryl peroxide, N.E.S.

Isopropyl sec-butyl peroxydicarbonate + Di- sec-butyl

peroxydicarbonate + Di-isopropyl peroxydicarbonate, N.E.S.

Isopropylcumyl hydroperoxide, N.E.S. (Alt:

Diisopropylbenzene hydroperoxide)

Isothiocyanic acid

Lead azide, N.E.S.

Lead mononitroresorcinate, N.E.S.

Lead picrate, N.E.S.

Lead styphnate, N.E.S.

Lead 2,4,6-trinitroresorcinate, N.E.S.

Mannitan tetranitrate

Mercurous azide

Mercury acetylide

Mercury iodide aquabasic ammonobasic (Iodide of Millon's base)

Mercury nitride

Mercury oxycyanide, N.E.S.

Methazoic acid

Methylamine dinitramine and dry salts thereof

Methylamine nitroform

Methylamine perchlorate, N.E.S.

Methylcyclohexanone peroxide(s), N.E.S.

Methyldichloroarsine

Methylene glycol dinitrate

Methyl ethyl ketone peroxide(s), N.E.S.

a-Methylglucoside tetranitrate

a-Methylglycerol trinitrate

Methyl isobutyl ketone peroxide(s), N.E.S.

Methyl nitramine, metal salts of

Methyl nitrate

Methyl nitrite

page 76 Reprint 6

Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

First Schedule

Methyl picric acid, heavy metal salts of Methyl trimethylol methane trinitrate Monochloroacetone, N.E.S.

Naphthalene diozonide

Naphthylamine perchlorate

Nickel picrate

Nitrated paper (unstable)

Nitrates of diazonium compounds

N-Nitroaniline

m-Nitrobenzene diazonium perchlorate

Nitrocellulose, N.E.S.

Nitrocotton, N.E.S.

6-Nitro-4-diazotoluene-3-sulfonic acid, N.E.S.

Nitroethyl nitrate

Nitroethylene polymer

Nitrogen trichloride

Nitrogen triiodide

Nitrogen triiodide monoamine

Nitroglycerin, liquid, N.E.S.

Nitroguanidine, N.E.S.

Nitroguanidine nitrate

1-Nitro hydantoin

Nitroisobutanetriol trinitrate

Nitromannite, N.E.S.

N-Nitro- N-methylglycolamide nitrate

2-Nitro-2-methylpropanol nitrate

m-Nitrophenyldinitro methane

Nitrostarch, N.E.S.

Nitrosugars, N.E.S.

Octogen, N.E.S.

1,7-Octadiene-3,5-diyne-1,8-dimethoxy-9-octadecynoic acid

Organic peroxide type A, liquid

Organic peroxide type A, solid

Pentaerythrite tetranitrate, N.E.S.

Pentaerythritol tetranitrate, N.E.S.

Pentanitroaniline, N.E.S.

Peracetic acid, N.E.S.

Perchloric acid, N.E.S.

First Schedule

Explosives too dangerous to transport and other explosives not in Class 1

Peroxyacetic acid, N.E.S.

PETN, N.E.S.

m-Phenylene diaminediperchlorate, N.E.S.

Picric acid, N.E.S.

Potassium carbonyl

Propionyl peroxide, N.E.S.

Pyridine perchlorate

Quebrachitol pentanitrate

Selenium nitride

Self-reactive liquid type A

Self-reactive solid type A

Shaped charges (commercial) containing more than 220g of explosives

Silver acetylide, N.E.S.

Silver azide, N.E.S.

Silver chlorate, N.E.S.

Silver chlorite, N.E.S.

Silver fulminate, N.E.S.

Silver oxalate, N.E.S.

Silver perchlorate

Silver picrate, N.E.S.

Sodium dinitro- o-cresolate, N.E.S.

Sodium picramate, N.E.S.

Sodium picryl peroxide

Sodium tetranitride

Styrene, monomer, N.E.S.

Sucrose octanitrate, N.E.S.

Sulfur and chlorate, loose mixtures of

Tetraazido benzene quinone

Tetrachloromethyl perchlorate

Tetraethylammonium perchlorate, N.E.S.

Tetrafluorohydrazine

Tetramethylene diperoxide dicarbamide

Tetranitrodiglycerin

2,3,4,6-Tetranitrophenol

2,3,4,6-Tetranitrophenyl methyl nitramine

2,3,4,6-Tetranitrophenylnitramine

Tetranitroresorcinol, N.E.S.

page 78 Reprint 6

2,3,5,6-Tetranitroso-1,4-dinitrobenzene

2,3,5,6-Tetranitroso nitrobenzene, N.E.S.

Tetrazine, N.E.S.

Tetrazolylazide, N.E.S.

Trichloromethyl perchlorate

Trifluorochloroethylene, N.E.S.

Trifluoromonochloroethylene, N.E.S.

Triformoxime trinitrate

Trimethylene glycol diperchlorate

Trimethylol nitromethane trinitrate

2,2,4-Trimethylpentyl-2-peroxyphenoxy acetate, N.E.S.

2,4,4-Trimethylpentyl-2-peroxyneodecanoate, N.E.S.

1,3,5-Trimethyl-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene

Trinitroacetic acid, N.E.S.

Trinitroacetonitrile

Trinitroamine cobalt

Trinitrobenzene, N.E.S.

Trinitrobenzoic acid, N.E.S.

2,4,6-Trinitro-1,3-diazobenzene

Trinitroethanol

Trinitroethylnitrate

Trinitromethane

1,3,5-Trinitronaphthalene

Trinitrophenol, N.E.S. (Alt: Picric acid)

2,4,6-Trinitrophenyl guanidine, N.E.S.

2,4,6-Trinitrophenyl nitramine

2,4,6-Trinitrophenyl trimethylol methyl nitramine trinitrate, N.E.S.

2,4,6-Trinitroso-3-methyl nitraminoanisole

Trinitrotetramine cobalt nitrate

2,4,6-Trinitro-1,3,5-triazido benzene, N.E.S.

Tri-(b -nitroxyethyl) ammonium nitrate

Tris-bis-bifluoroamino diethoxy propane (TVOPA)

Urea nitrate, N.E.S.

p-Xylyl diazide

Zirconium picramate, N.E.S.

[First Schedule inserted in Gazette 8 Jun 1999 p. 2484-91.]

Second Schedule — Fees

[r. 157]

[Heading inserted in Gazette 27 Jun 2006 p. 2278.]

Item	Des	cription	Fee (\$)
1.	Lice	ence to import explosives	160.00
2.	Lice	Licence to manufacture explosives —	
	(a)	fireworks	50.00
	(b)	any other explosives	340.00
3.	Lice	ence to manufacture a blasting agent	35.00
4.	Lice	ence to sell explosives	51.00
5.	Licence to store explosives —		
	(a)	licensed premises Mode A	35.00
	(b)	licensed premises Mode B	80.00
	(c)	magazine not exceeding 1 000 kg	80.00
	(d)	magazine exceeding 1 000 kg but not exceeding 5 000 kg	120.00
	(e)	magazine exceeding 5 000 kg	320.00
6.	Autl	horisation of explosive	138.00
7.	Trar	ransfer of any licence 17.50	
8.		Storage in public magazine — for each package and for each week or part thereof 1.55	
9.	Inspection and testing fees —		
	(a)	for each sample submitted to the "Heat Test"	5.70
	(b)	inspection of packages damaged, per day or part thereof	260.00
	(c)	inspection of ships conveying explosives, per day or part thereof	260.00
	(d)	inspection for certificate of release	165.00
10.		nage fees for magazines erected on explosives rves (for every 1 000 kg of licensed capacity)	220.00

page 80 Reprint 6

Item	Description	Fee (\$)
11.	Tonnage fee for storing ammonium nitrate on reserved land vested in the Minister for the purpose of magazines for explosives —	
	(a) on the Baldivis Explosives Reserve or the Kalgoorlie Explosives Reserve (per square metre of land used for such storage)	6.20
	(b) on any other such reserved land (per square metre of land used for such storage)	3.10
12.	Shotfirer's permit, issue and renewal	17.50
13.	Examination for a shotfirer's permit	165.00
14.	Issue of an entry permit	165.00
15.	Permit for purchase and use of fireworks	165.00
16.	Initial approval of equipment used for or in connection with detonation of explosives	315.00
17.	Testing of equipment for or in connection with detonation of explosives — per unit	19.00

[Second Schedule inserted in Gazette 27 Jun 2006 p. 2278-9.]

[Third Schedule repealed in Gazette 23 Oct 1969 p. 3320.]

Notes

This reprint is a compilation as at 15 March 2007 of the *Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963* and includes the amendments made by the other written laws referred to in the following table ^{1a}. The table also contains information about any reprint.

Compilation table

Citation	Gazettal	Commencement
Explosives Regulations 1963 ⁴	10 Dec 1963 p. 3781-828	10 Dec 1963
Untitled regulations	29 Apr 1964 p. 2057-8	29 Apr 1964
Untitled regulations	13 May 1964 p. 2166	13 May 1964
Decimal Currency Act 1965 assented	to 21 Dec 1965	Act other than s. 4-9: 21 Dec 1965 (see s. 2(1)); s. 4-9: 14 Feb 1966 (see s. 2(2))
Untitled regulations	23 Oct 1969 p. 3312-20	23 Oct 1969
Reprint of the <i>Explosives Regulatio</i> 11 Aug 1970 p. 2499-535 (includes a		
Untitled regulations	7 Sep 1971 p. 3290	7 Sep 1971
Untitled regulations	3 Mar 1972 p. 528	3 Mar 1972
Untitled regulations	18 Aug 1972 p. 3225	18 Aug 1972
Untitled regulations	8 Dec 1972 p. 4652	1 Jan 1973 (see r. 2)
Explosives (Metric Conversion Amendment) Regulations 1974	12 Jul 1974 p. 2682-5	12 Jul 1974
Untitled regulations	30 May 1975 p. 1704-5	30 May 1975
Untitled regulations	14 Jul 1978 p. 2521-30 (corrigendum 11 Aug 1978 p. 2936)	14 Jul 1978
Untitled regulations	14 Mar 1980 p. 897	14 Mar 1980

page 82 Reprint 6

Citation	Gazettal	Commencement	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1980	14 Nov 1980 p. 3894	14 Nov 1980	
Reprint of the <i>Explosives Regulations 1963</i> authorised 11 Dec 1980 published in <i>Gazette 13 Jan 1981</i> p. 53-98 (includes amendments listed above except those in the <i>Explosives Amendment Regulations 1980</i>)			
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1982	12 Mar 1982 p. 848-9	12 Mar 1982	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1983	7 Oct 1983 p. 4133	7 Oct 1983	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1984 ⁵	28 Dec 1984 p. 4257	1 Jan 1985 (see r. 2)	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1986	18 Apr 1986 p. 1466-7	18 Apr 1986	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1988	29 Jul 1988 p. 2569	29 Jul 1988	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1989	7 Jul 1989 p. 2123	7 Jul 1989	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Fees) Amendment Regulations 1990 Pt. 2	27 Jul 1990 p. 3598-9	1 Aug 1990 (see r. 2)	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1991	18 Jan 1991 p. 235	1 Feb 1991 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Fees Amendment) Regulations 1991 Pt. 3	12 Jul 1991 p. 3472-4	15 Jul 1991 (see r. 2)	
Explosives Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 1993	27 Aug 1993 p. 4621	27 Aug 1993	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1994	17 Jun 1994 p. 2529	17 Jun 1994	
Reprint of the <i>Explosives Regulations 1963</i> as at 28 May 1996 (includes amendments listed above)			
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1996	28 Jun 1996 p. 3093-4	1 Jul 1996 (see r. 2)	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1997	12 Dec 1997 p. 7279	12 Dec 1997	
Explosives Amendment Regulations 1999	8 Jun 1999 p. 2478-91	9 Jun 1999 (see r. 2 and <i>Gazette</i> 8 Jun 1999 p. 2469)	
Reprint of the Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963 as at			

Reprint of the *Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963* as at 17 Mar 2000 (includes amendments listed above)

Citation	Gazettal	Commencement	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations 2000	23 Jun 2000 p. 3203-4	1 Jul 2000 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2000	18 Aug 2000 p. 4779-81	18 Aug 2000	
Dangerous Goods (Transport) (Dangerous Goods in Ports) Regulations 2001 r. 51	22 Jan 2002 p. 321-56	1 Feb 2002 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations 2002	28 Jun 2002 p. 3082-3	1 Jul 2002 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2002	1 Nov 2002 p. 5370-2	1 Nov 2002	
Reprint of the <i>Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963</i> as at 4 Nov 2002 (includes amendments listed above)			
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations 2003	27 Jun 2003 p. 2399-400	1 Jul 2003 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations 2004	29 Jun 2004 p. 2534-6	1 Jul 2004 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations 2005	28 Jun 2005 p. 2926-7	1 Jul 2005 (see r. 2)	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2005	3 Jan 2006 p. 3-4	3 Jan 2006	
Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Amendment Regulations 2006	27 Jun 2006 p. 2277-9	1 Jul 2006 (see r. 2)	

Reprint 6: The Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963 as at 16 Mar 2007 (includes amendments listed above)

page 84 Reprint 6

On the date as at which this reprint was prepared, provisions referred to in the following table had not come into operation and were therefore not included in compiling the reprint. For the text of the provisions see the endnotes referred to in the table.

Provisions that have not come into operation

Short title	Number and year	Assent	Commencement
Dangerous Goods Safety Act 2004 s. 70 ⁶	7 of 2004	10 Jun 2004	To be proclaimed (see s. 2)

- Under the *Local Government Act 1995*, Schedule 9.3, Div. 1, cl. 3(4), a reference to a town clerk or shire clerk may, where the context requires, be read as if it had been amended to include or be a reference to the CEO of a local government.
- Now known as the Western Australian Police Service.
- Now known as the *Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives)**Regulations 1963; citation changed (see note under r. 1).
- The *Miscellaneous Regulations (Validation) Act 1985* applied to these regulations. It deems the regulations not to have ceased to have effect as a result of the failure to comply with section 42(1) of the *Interpretation Act 1984*, subject to their being laid before the Legislative Assembly. The *Interpretation Act 1984* s. 42(2) then applied as if the words "or if any regulations are not laid before both Houses of Parliament in accordance with subsection (1)" had been omitted.
- On the date as at which this reprint was prepared, the *Dangerous Goods Safety Act 2004* s. 70, which gives effect to Sch. 2, had not come into operation. It reads as follows:

70. Repeals and consequential amendments (Sch. 2)

Schedule 2 has effect.

Schedule 2 Div. 2 cl. 2(2)(b) reads as follows:

"

Schedule 2 — Repeals and consequential amendments

[s. 70]

Division 2 — Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961 repealed

- 2. Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961 repealed
 - (2) The following regulations, made under the *Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961*, are repealed
 - (b) Explosives and Dangerous Goods (Explosives) Regulations 1963;

Defined Terms

Defined Terms

[This is a list of terms defined and the provisions where they are defined.

The list is not part of the law.]

Defined Term	Provision(s)
approved	2(1)
Australian Explosives Code	2(1)
blasting agent	28(1)
Division	2(1)
explosives	2(1)
handling	2B(2)
NEQ	136(1)
NES	136(1)
nitro-compound	2(1)
outer package	2(1)
port	
pyrotechnic device	
store	
the Act	2(1)
tonne	2(1)
UN tests	